# CHARACTERIZATION OF SELECTED GYPSITES OF TANZANIA AND ASSESSMENT OF THEIR EFFECTIVENESS AS PLANT NUTRIENT SOURCE AND SOIL AMENDMENT

# PRIMITIVA ANDREA

A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN SOIL SCIENCE AND LAND MANAGEMENT OF SOKOINE UNIVERSITY OF AGRICULTURE.

MOROGORO, TANZANIA.

#### 2015

#### ABSTRACT

This study was carried out to assess the suitability and effectiveness of gypsite as soil amendment in release of Ca and S. This is because besides the high potential of gypsite in improving crop yields in some countries, its use in Tanzanian agricultural soils is limited. This is attributed largely to few researches on their agricultural potentials. The gypsite samples used in this study were collected from Pindiro, Makanya, Itigi and Msagali sites. The X-ray fluorescence (XRF) method was employed to analyze the chemical compositions of the composite samples. Using maize as a test crop, pot experiment was conducted to assess crop response to gypsite application at different rates. In addition, incubation study was conducted for 56 days on the solubility of gypsite in release of S in soil solution. The XRF results showed that the gypsites from the four sites varied in amounts of gypsum content from 35.76 to 82.36% for gypsite from Itigi and Pindiro respectively. The contents of S were 15.32, 13.26, 10.52 and 6.65 % for Pindiro, Msagali, Makanya and Itigi gypsites respectively. Calcium contents was 11, 9.5, 7.6 and 4.8% for Pindiro, Msagali, Makanya and Itigi gypsites, respectively. Pindiro and Msagali gypsite sources were selected for pot experiment due to having high S and Ca percentage. Results from pot experiment indicated that maize plant height and shoot dry matter were significantly higher by 22% and 27.2%, respectively for soil amended with Pindiro and Msagali gypsites compared to maize grown in none amended soil. After pot experiment, the postharvest soil analysis indicated that on the average residual S increased by 5 for soil amended with Pindiro and 2 times for soil amended with

Msagali gypsite while Ca increased by 19.6 and 21.7% for soil amended with Pindiro and Msagali gypsites, respectively, compared to control. In addition, incubation results revealed that solubility of gypsites for Pindiro and Msagali were high (178 to 579 and 165.1 to 492.2 mg S kg<sup>-1</sup>) respectively. Gypsites from Pindiro and Msagali are effective in improving Ca and S availability for plant growth, also gypsite application has acidifying effect to the soils. In this study gypsite application reduced the pH by 0.4 units. However, field trials using different soil types and various crops are recommended in order to make concrete recommendations on use of these soil amendments.

# **DECLARATION**

I, Primitiva Andrea, do hereby declare to the Sen	nate of Sokoine University of
Agriculture that this dissertation is my own original w	vork and that it has neither been
submitted nor concurrently being submitted for a	degree award in any other
university.	
Primitiva Andrea	Date
MSc. Soil Science and Land Management	
(Candidate)	
The above declaration is confirmed,	
Prof. Ernest M. Marwa	Date
(Supervisor)	
Dr. Abel K. Kaaya	Date
(Supervisor)	Dun

# **COPYRIGHT**

No part of this dissertation may be reproduced, stored in any retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or means without prior written permission of the author or Sokoine University of Agriculture in that behalf.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I am very grateful to Alliance for Green Revolution in Africa (AGRA) programme for sponsoring my studies; special thanks to Professor Filbert Rwehumbiza for coordinating this program.

I am deeply indebted to my supervisors Prof Ernest Marwa and Dr. Abel Kaaya for their guidance from the beginning of this study to the final execution of the dissertation. Not only the critics they imposed but also constructive suggestions and encouragements which finally motivated me to get at the end of this study successfully.

Special thanks to my fellow students of MSc. Soil Science and Land Management, their moral support had made my work easier. I thank my friends Almasi Hamad, Aswile Laurent, Monica Nakei, Halima Mbaga, Devotha Joseph, Christina Honde, Schola Mbalila, Sado Lufega, Twisege Andrew and Helena Mkoba for their daily encouragements.

Nothing could have been achieved on my side if many people surrounding me especially the entire staff of the Department of Soil Science did not give me their full support and encouragement, critics when things went astray and being honest to me by giving relevant ideas and information that I required. Some of them are Professor Ernest Semu, Professor Jerome Peter Mrema, Mr. Eliakira Kisetu, Professor Balthazar Msanya, Dr. Peter Mtakwa, Dr. Nyambilila Amuri and all staff members of the Department of Soil Science. Special thanks to the technical staff Mr. G. P.

Malekela, Mr. Kilosa, Mr Salum Marangi, Mrs E. Nyange, Mrs E. Mtanke and Mr. Mohammed.

I'm grateful to my lovely family, my beloved husband and our son Rousseau as well as my sister Nyangoma, of who without their support success could not have been achieved.

Lastly but not least, special thanks are due to all those names that are not listed because of being many in number, it is my appreciation that your contribution enabled successful completion of this work.

Stay blessed by God!

# **DEDICATION**

This dissertation is dedicated to Almighty God Farther of Our Lord Jesus Christ to Him be all Honour and Glory. Let all men know your forbearance. To my dear father Andrea Antony Mboyerwa and my mother Generoza Fidelis, what I am today is a product of their efforts and focus. This also coins in my beloved husband Wolfram Kipengele and our son Rousseau.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABS	TRACT	ii
DEC	CLARATION	iv
COP	PYRIGHT	V
ACK	KNOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
DED	DICATION	viii
TAB	BLE OF CONTENTS	ix
LIST	Γ OF TABLES	xiv
LIST	Γ OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS	xvi
CHA	APTER ONE	1
1.0	INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	Justification	4
1.2	Objectives of the Study	5
1.2	2.1 Overall objective	5
1.2	2.2 Specific objectives	5
CHA	APTER TWO	6
2.0	LITERATURE REVIEW	6
2.1	Gypsum Deposits in Tanzania	6
2.2	Formation of Gypsum	6
2.3	Mineralogy of Gypsum	7
2.4	Gypsum as a Source of Plant Nutrients	8

2.5	Ca	leium in Soils	8
2.5	5.1 I	Forms of calcium in soils	8
2.6	Su	lphur in Soils	9
2.6	5.1	Forms of sulphur in soils	9
2.7	Ro	les of Calcium and Sulphur in Plant Nutrition	10
2.7	'.1	Calcium	10
2.7	.2	Sulphur	11
2.9	Gy	psum as a Soil Amendment	13
2.10	Eff	fect of Gypsum on the Physical Properties of Soils	14
2.1	0.1	Soil structure	14
2.1	0.2	Soil crusting	15
2.1	0.3	Water infiltration	15
2.11	Eff	Fect of Gypsum on Chemical Properties of Soils	16
2.1	1.1	Aluminium toxicity in acid soils	16
2.1	1.2	Heavy-metal toxicity	16
2.12	Qu	ality of Tanzanian Gypsum	17
2.13	Uses	of Gypsum in Tanzania	17
СНА	PTE	ER THREE	18
3.0	M	ATERIALS AND METHODS	18
3.1	De	escription of Gypsite Sampling Sites	18
3.1	.1	Makanya site	18
3.1	.2	Msagali site	18
3.1	.3	Itigi site	19

3.1.4 Pindiro site	20
3.2 Sampling and Analysis of Gypsite Samples	20
3.2.1 Sampling	20
3.2.2 Laboratory analysis	20
3.2.3 Loss on ignition	21
3.2.4 Determination of the Extractability of Sulphur, Calcium, Magnesium	
and Potentially Toxic Elements (PTEs)	21
3.3 Soil Sampling for Incubation and Pot Experiment	22
3.4. Soil preparation for Incubation and Pot Experiment	22
3.5 Soil Analyses	22
3.5.1 Physical properties of the soil	22
3.5.2 Chemical properties of the soil	23
3.6 Incubation study	23
3.7 Pot Experiment	24
3.7.1 Preparation	24
3.7.2 Seed sowing	25
3.7.3 Management of maize plants in pots	26
3.8 Data collection	26
3.8.1 Plant height	26
3.8.2 Sampling and analysis of plant and soil samples	26
3.9 Data Analysis	27
3.10 Statistical Model	27

CH	APT	TER FOUR	28
4.0	R	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	28
4.1	L	aboratory Analysis of Elemental Composition of the Gypsite	28
4	.2.1	Chemical composition of gypsite	28
4	.2.2	Loss on ignition	30
4	.2.3	Macronutrients concentrations	30
4	.2.4	Micronutrients concentrations	32
4	.2.5	Elements of environmental concern	32
4.4	Sı	alphur Release from Gypsite	34
4.5	Phys	sical and Chemical Properties of Soil used for Incubation and Pot	
	Exp	periment	36
4	.5.1	Soil pH	36
6	.2.2	Extractable Phosphorus	38
4	.5.2	Soil Texture	38
4	.5.3	Total nitrogen	39
4	.5.4	Cation exchange capacity and exchangeable Cations	39
4	.5.6	Extractable sulphate	39
4	.5.7	Level of micronutrients	40
4.8	Resp	oonse of maize to the applied gypsites	40
4.9	Effe	ct of Gypsite on Some Chemical Properties of the Soil	43
	Res	ults of the effect of gypsite application on some soil properties are	
	pres	sented in (Tables 8, 9 and 10), and discussed under this section	43
4	.9.1	Soil pH	43
4	.9.2	Available phosphorus	45

# xiii

9.3 Total nitrogen	48
9.4 Exchangeable bases	48
9.5 Available SO <sub>4</sub> -S	50
9.6 Extractable micronutrients	50
10 Effect of Gypsites on Nutrients Concentrations in Maize Shoots	52
10.1 Nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium	52
10.3 Calcium, magnesium and sulphur	54
10.5 Micronutrients in maize shoots	57
APTER FIVE	60
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	60
Conclusions	60
Recommendations	61
TERENCES	62
	9.4 Exchangeable bases  9.5 Available SO <sub>4</sub> -S  9.6 Extractable micronutrients  10 Effect of Gypsites on Nutrients Concentrations in Maize Shoots  10.1 Nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium  10.3 Calcium, magnesium and sulphur

# xiv

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Treatments used in the pot experiment and incubation study	25
Table 2: The XRF analytical results of the gypsites samples	29
Table 3: Extractable sulphur, calcium, magnesium and some PTEs (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> ) in	
gypsites from Pindiro and Msagali deposits	32
Table 4: Sulphur released from soils treated with gypsite from Msagali deposit	
under different days of incubation	35
Table 5: Sulphur released from soils treated with gypsite from Pindiro deposit	
under different days of incubation	36
Table 6: Chemical and physical properties of the experimental soils collected	
from Magadu SUA Farm	37
Table 7: Effect of gypsites on plant height and shoot dry matter yields	41
Table 8: Effect of gypsites from Msagali and Pindiro deposits on soil pH	
(water) after 35 and 42 days of pot experiment and incubation study,	
respectively	44
Table 9: Effect of gypsite from Msagali deposit on soil nutrient levels after 35	
days of pot experiment	46
Table 10: Effect of gypsite from Pindiro deposit on soil nutrient levels after 35	
days of pot experiment	47
Table 11: Effect of gypsites from Msagali and Pindiro on nutrients N, P and K	
concentrations in maize plant shoots	53
Table 12: Effect of gypsites on nutrients Ca, Mg and S concentrations in maize	
nlant shoots	55

Table 13: Effect of	f gypsites on nut	nutrients Zn, Cu, Fe and Mn concentrations in		
maize p	lant shoots			57

# xvi

# LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

°C Celsius Centigrade

AAS Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometer

ANOVA Analysis of Variance

CEC Cation exchange capacity

cmol (+) /kg Centimol charge per kilogram

CRBD Completely randomized block design

DAP Di-ammonium phosphate

DAS Days after sowing

DM Dry mater

DMRT Duncan's Multiple Range Test

DMY Dry mater yield

DTPA Diethylene triamine pentacetic acid

FGD Flue gas desulfurization

GNP Gross National Product

H hour

LOI Loss on ignition

M Molar mass

NH<sub>4</sub>OAc Ammonium acetate

pH negative logarithm of hydrogen ion activity

PTEs Potentially toxic elements

SO<sub>4</sub>-S Sulphate Sulphur

SUA Sokoine University of Agriculture

USDA United States Department of Agriculture

yr years

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

#### 1.0 INTRODUCTION

Tanzania is an agricultural country and the livelihoods of nearly 80% of Tanzanians depend directly or indirectly on subsistence rain-fed agriculture (Mkapa, 2005). Agriculture contributes about half of Tanzania's gross national product (GNP) and provides about 90% of the rural employment (Mmbaga and Lyamchai, 2001). Although agriculture is the backbone of the Tanzanian economy, crop productivity is generally low as a result of a number of factors; among them salinity, drought, pest and disease infections, genetic variability, poor soil management and inadequate macro- and micro-nutrients in the soils (Ley *et al.*, 2002).

Increasing the productivity of agricultural soils is important to sustainably supply food, feed, fuel, and fiber for a growing human population. The demand for increased productivity has resulted in the search for alterative soil management practices to increase crop yields, using gypsum as a management tool to improve crop yields and soil is essential. Gypsum's benefits as a plant nutrient source and soil conditioner for agricultural production have been known dating back to the late 18<sup>th</sup> century (Crocker, 1922). Chen and Dick (2011) reviewed the use of a soft calcium sulfate dihydrate mineral (CaSO<sub>4</sub>·2H<sub>2</sub>O), in agriculture and for other land applications.

Gypsite is a rock that contains an abundance of the mineral gypsum (CaSO<sub>4</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O) (Mandal and Mandal, 2002). It is naturally occurring as a soft rock in association

with limestone, silica, clays and a variety of soluble salts as impurities along with other trace elements, such as copper, zinc, nickel, iron and manganese. These trace elements are not usually found in hard rock gypsum deposits. Under high pressure and temperature gypsum turns into anhydrite (CaSO<sub>4</sub>) (Dontsova and Norton, 2002). Pure gypsum (CaSO<sub>4</sub>•2H<sub>2</sub>O), is Composed of 79% calcium sulfate (CaSO<sub>4</sub>) and 21% water (H<sub>2</sub>O). Pure gypsum contains 23.3% calcium (Ca) and 18.6% sulfur (S) (Dontsova and Norton, 2002). Gypsum is moderately soluble in water (2.5 g per L) or approximately 200 times greater than agricultural lime (CaCO<sub>3</sub>) (Epri, 2006; Korcak, 1988). This makes the calcium in gypsum more mobile than the calcium in lime and allows it to easily move through the soil profile where it can provide nutrients to deep plant roots and help to alleviate subsoil nutrient availability problems.

Gypsite has various benefits in soil as well as in plants including supplying calcium (Ca) and sulphur (S) for plant nutrition (Bolan *et al.*, 1993). Plants require relatively large amounts of calcium and sulphur because Ca is needed at 0.5% shoot dry weight and S is needed in a range of 0.1 to 0.5% dry weights for optimal growth (Brady and Weil, 2008). Gypsum can provide many physical and chemical benefits to soils in addition to nutritional benefits. It increases subsoil Ca (Caires *et al.*, 2006), decreases subsoil acidity (Toma *et al.*, 1999) and reduces exchangeable aluminium (Al) (Ritchey and Snuffer, 2002; Hue, 2005).

With respect to soil physical properties, the benefits of gypsum when used as soil amendment include increased water infiltration (Sahin *et al.*, 2003; Chen *et al.*,

2009), increased soil aggregation (Chen *et al.*, 2009), decreased Na adsorption, improved or increased root development (Takahashi *et al.*, 2006) and decreased soil compaction. Other benefits are an increase in the hydraulic conductivity of soil after consecutive gypsum applications (Sahin *et al.*, 2003), and a reduction in metal toxicities has also been documented (Campbell *et al.*, 2006; Sumner, 2007).

Most farmers in Tanzania do not use sulphate fertilizers as a source of nutrients in soils. In a long run this is causing deficiency of sulphur in soils. Introduction of high yielding crop varieties, intensive and multiple cropping, the decreased use of farmyard manures, removal of crop residues for feed and fuel, leaching, burning, erosion, microbial and plant uptake, a larger proportion of S may be unavailable to plant. The above processes seem to have led to a wide occurrence of S deficiency in soils for plant uptake (Brady and Weil, 2002; Hall, 2008; Sakal and Singh, 1997; Tandon, 1984).

Sulphur (S) deficiencies in soils of tropical and subtropical regions have been recognized for many years (Pasricha and Fox, 1993). Sulphur deficiency has been reported from over 70 countries, including Tanzania (Tandon, 1991). For instance, corn (*Zea mays* L.) removes approximately 18 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> to 40 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> for silage and 12 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> grain harvest (Murrell, 2005). The combination of reduced inputs and increased S removal from soil has sparked interest in evaluating responses of crops to gypsum additions. In S deficient conditions, the efficiency of applied N, P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> and K<sub>2</sub>O, may be seriously affected and high yields may not be sustained (Ahmad *et al.*, 1994). The consequence of this trend in most parts of the country is a decrease in crop production. Inorganic fertilizers in Tanzania are not obtained at the right time

and are at higher costs, which are not affordable to smallholder farmers who are basically producing for subsistence (Kisetu and Teveli, 2013). This also was reported by Kimbi *et al.* (1996) that water soluble fertilizers are expensive to resource poor farmers, so farmers could benefit more by using agro minerals, namely gypsite rocks as sources of S and Ca because the country is endowed with large quantities of gypsite deposits (Harris, 1981), these could be used as alternative sources of nutrients in crop production.

#### 1.1 Justification

Low soil fertility and high nutrient mining are among the main factors limiting crop yields in Sub-Saharan Africa (Adu-Gyamfi *et al.*, 2007), Tanzania inclusive (Nyasasi and Kisetu, 2014). Some soil fertility management technologies being used to address low soil fertility in Tanzania include use of organic soil amendments (e.g., crop residues, animal manures, agroforestry tree pruning) and inorganic (fertilizers, agro-minerals) resources (Kwesiga and Coe, 1994) and commercial products such as bio-fertilizers and chemical products. Agro-minerals have improved crop yields in some countries, but in Tanzania the use of gypsites in agriculture as a source of plant nutrients is limited, and this could be due to lack of enough research on their potential suitability. Duarah *et al.* (2011) reported that excessive and improper application of industrial fertilizers imposes residual impact to soils, so the use of agro minerals such as gypsite rock in agriculture can be one of the alternative means of assisting farmers in Tanzania to replenish the soils with sulphur without causing harm to plants. Apart from adding sulphur in the soil, gypsite rocks could also supplement the soil with calcium.

However, gypsite rocks cannot be used without knowing their chemical properties and chemical composition so as to make recommendations for use of gypsite in agriculture, it is important to understanding of its composition and properties. Also characterization of gypsite rocks from Tanzania is necessary because some deposits may occur with a varying amount of potentially toxic elements (PTEs) (Dontsova *et al.*, 2005) which may cause toxicity or may affect the availability and uptake of essential plant nutrients in soils. Gypsite rocks contain substantial amounts of chromium (Cr), nickel (Ni), copper (Cu) and zinc (Zn) but their availability for plant uptake is unknown, thus, characterization is essential. The optimum rate of applying S and its influence on crops such as maize performance is critical because of the economic and industrial importance of maize and availability of gypsum as affordable source of S.

# 1.2 Objectives of the Study

#### 1.2.1 Overall objective

The overall objective of this study was to characterize selected gypsite rocks commonly found in Tanzania and determine their potentials as soil amendment and as sources of plant nutrients in agricultural soils with low levels of S.

# 1.2.2 Specific objectives

The specific objectives of this study were to:

- i) Determine the chemical composition of the selected gypsite rocks of Tanzania.
- ii) Determine the extractability of Sulphur, Calcium and selected potentially toxic elements found in the selected gypsite rocks.
- iii) Study solubility trends of sulphur release from selected gypsite rocks.
- Study the response of maize as a test crop on soil amended with selected gypsite rocks.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

#### 2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

# 2.1 Gypsum Deposits in Tanzania

Tanzania is endowed with vast deposits of gypsum. Major rock gypsum and anhydrite resources are found in remote areas, at Pindiro and Mandawa in south-eastern Tanzania, at about 100 km north of Lindi (Harris, 1981). Low-grade and low-volume gypsum resources are also found in seasonal swamp environments (*mbugas*) at Msagali and Itigi in Central Tanzania and at Mkomazi in Lushoto District in the north-eastern Tanzania (Harris, 1981). As so-called 'gypsite' occurs in crystal form in nodules and as finely distributed crystals in a sandy, silt and clay-rich groundmass. Small-scale mining of gypsum from the low-grade gypsite deposit of Mkomazi in north-eastern Tanzania started in 1952. The ore is hand-sorted to produce a concentrate of 60 to 80% gypsum. Since 1953, annual production has been in the range of 4,000 to 9,000 tonnes with a maximum annual production in the late 1970s of 22,000 tons (Richardson, 1982). Another commercial deposit is located at Makanya in Same District.

# 2.2 Formation of Gypsum

In nature, gypsum and anhydrite occur as beds or nodular masses up to a few metres thick and gypsum is formed by the hydration of anhydrite. In addition, gypsum occurs geologically as an evaporate mineral associated with sedimentary deposits (Korcak, 1988).

The depth of hydration can range from the surface of the deposit down to three hundred metres, depending on temperature and pressure, topography and the structure of the deposit (Richardson, 1982). Anhydrite is often mined in conjunction with gypsum, but is comparatively limited in its technical applications (Korcak, 1988). The content of gypsum in sedimentary rock varies from 75% to 95%, the rest being clay and chalk (Harber and Kuzvart, 1996).

Gypsum is available in two forms namely mineral gypsum and by-product gypsum (Korcak, 1988). The mineral gypsum is mined from land deposits while by-product gypsum includes marine gypsum, phosphor-gypsum, fluoro-gypsum, boro-gypsum, scrubber gypsum, etc. Marine gypsum is recovered from sea-water as a by-product while producing common salt, whereas the other types are obtained as by-products from different chemical plants.

# 2.3 Mineralogy of Gypsum

Mineral gypsum is the most common of the naturally occurring sulphate minerals as hydrous calcium sulphate (CaSO<sub>4</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O) with a composition of 79% calcium sulphate and 21% water (Dontsova and Norton, 2002). Anhydrite calcium sulphate (CaSO<sub>4</sub>) is also a naturally occurring sulphate mineral with no water of crystallization. According to Dontsova and Norton (2002), pure gypsum contains 23.3% Ca, 32.6% CaO, 18.6% S, 46.5% SO<sub>3</sub> and 20.9% H<sub>2</sub>O. Mineral gypsum and anhydrite are frequently found in close association and it is seldom that a natural calcium sulphate deposit will consist exclusively of one mineral or the other. Gypsum tends to be of greater economic importance because of its chemical properties.

# 2.4 Gypsum as a Source of Plant Nutrients

Gypsum has been reported to be an excellent soil amendment, supplying readily available Ca<sup>2+</sup> and SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> for plant nutrition (Shainberg *et al.*, 1989; Chen *et al.*, 2005; Chen et al., 2008). According to Aylmore *et al.* (1971) and Abrol *et al.* (1979), gypsum is soluble in water to the extent of about one-fourth of one percentage by weight is a direct source of calcium. It represents also an important source of Ca<sup>2+</sup> and S (Bolan *et al.*, 1993) for plant growth and it can improve mineral content in vegetal tissues such as N, P, K, Ca, Mn, S and Zn (Caires *et al.*, 2006; Tuna *et al.*, 2007).

#### 2.5 Calcium in Soils

All agricultural plants have specific needs for calcium in their tissues to ensure proper growth. Total calcium in soils ranges from 0.1 to 25% by weight. This is equivalent to 2,000 to 500,000 kg Ca ha<sup>-1</sup> (Tisdale *et al.*, 2003). Low levels of calcium are found in highly weathered and strongly acid soils of pH < 5. High levels of calcium are found in alkaline soils (arid and semi-arid areas) with high pH (>7.0) and accumulation of free CaCO<sub>3</sub>. According to Tisdale *et al.* (2003), any soil with total calcium >3% will contain free CaCO<sub>3</sub>. Furthermore, the ability of calcium to neutralize excess acid or excess alkaline, amphoteric, in the soil environment is the key to proper root growth of the plants. Without proper root growth plants are susceptible to drought and improper mineral nutrition (Tisdale *et al.*, 2003).

# 2.5.1 Forms of calcium in soils

Calcium occurs in three forms in the soil namely calcium in primary minerals, exchangeable calcium and soluble calcium (Tisdale *et al.*, 1990). The fraction of

calcium in primary minerals constitutes 99% by weight of total calcium in soils. However, in acid soils the sources of calcium are minerals such as anorthite (CaAlSiO<sub>8</sub>) and pyroxenes (Ca, Na) mg<sup>2+</sup>, Fe<sup>2+</sup>, Al) Si<sub>2</sub>O<sub>6</sub> or (Ca, Na) mg<sup>2+</sup>, Fe<sup>2+</sup>,Fe<sup>3+</sup>)Si<sub>2</sub>O<sub>6</sub>). On the other hand, in alkaline soils there are minerals such as dolomite (CaMg (CO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>), calcite (CaCO<sub>3</sub>) and gypsum (CaSO<sub>4</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O) but A large proportion of calcium is held in available forms (Tisdale *et al.*, 2003). Exchangeable and soluble calcium, these are available form of calcium for plant uptake, it contribute 0.1-1% weight of total calcium in soil per hector (Tisdale *et al.*, 2003).

# 2.6 Sulphur in Soils

The main source of sulphur in soils is through addition of organic matter from plant and animal sources and application of inorganic fertilizers. Sulphur can also enter the atmosphere by both natural processes and human activities, some of which are industrial wastes and fossil fuel burnings which help to contribute to a great amount of sulphur to the atmosphere (Somnath and Ghosh, 2009). Sulphur however, finds its way into the soil system through atmospheric depositions (wet and dry). The wet deposition is dissolved in rain while the dry deposition involves compounds containing sulphur e.g. parent materials. Total sulphur in soils ranges from 0.005-0.04% which is equivalent to 100-800 kg sulphur per hectare (Tisdale *et al.*, 1993).

# 2.6.1 Forms of sulphur in soils

Sulphur exists primarily as organic and inorganic forms in soils (Tisdale *et al.*, 1993). Most farmers employ the use of inorganic fertilizers due to its quick release of nutrients and ease of application compared to its organic counterpart, however the organic sulphur is superior to inorganic form. In a well-drained and well aerated soil,

most of the inorganic forms of sulphur occur as sulphates and the amounts of reduced sulphur compounds are generally less than 1%. Under anaerobic conditions, particularly in tidal swamps and poorly drained or water logged soils, the main form of inorganic sulphur in soils is sulphide and often elemental sulphur (Zhang *et al.*, 1996). Hence, the easily absorbed form of sulphur by plants is the sulphates form and the sulphate-sulphur interaction with the soil solid phase influences not only its availability to plants but also its distribution (Barrow, 1985).

# 2.7 Roles of Calcium and Sulphur in Plant Nutrition

#### 2.7.1 Calcium

Calcium plays a key role as an essential nutrient element in plants (White and Broadley, 2003). It is a regulator of growth and development (Hepler, 2005) and is indispensable in a number of metabolic functions or pathways (Plieth, 2005). As a divalent cation Ca<sup>2+</sup> has a structural role in cell walls and cell membranes. It also participates in root and stem elongation (White and Brodley, 2003). Ryan *et al.* (1997) indicated that high quantity of Ca is present in the apoplast, where it maintains cell and tissue viability. Its fundamental role in the structure and rigidity of the cell walls has been reported in previous studies conducted elsewhere in the world (Silva *et al.*, 2005; Shukry *et al.*, 2007).

Calcium is also used as a second messenger in various signal transduction pathways in eukaryotic cells (Sanders *et al.*, 2002; Silva *et al.*, 2005), and is modulated at intracellular level in response to many signals such as hormones, light, mechanical disruption, and abiotic and biotic stress (Cheng *et al.*, 2002; Sanders *et al.*, 2002). In addition, Ca<sup>2+</sup> is involved in the photosynthetic process as an essential activator of

the Mn redox chemistry that culminates in the release of O<sub>2</sub> from photosystem II (PSII) in water photolysis (Hommann, 2002; Yocum, 2008), a process that could be inhibited when substituted by other cations such as K<sup>+</sup>, rubidium (Rb<sup>+</sup>) and cesium (Cs<sup>+</sup>) (Ono *et al.*, 2001).

Calcium regulates enzymatic activity (Cheng *et al.*, 2002), as well as homeostasis in both the chloroplast and mitochondria-activating ATPkinases and produces electrochemical potential (Ryan *et al.*, 1997). Lack of calcium usually shows up as distorted, underdeveloped tips of young leaves and yellowing of the leaf (Mengel and Kirkby, 1987).

Calcium is also important for good root growth, especially where the subsoil has suboptimum pH values (Toma *et al.*, 1999). Calcium is important in fruit growth and quality in different crops such as melons (Takasu *et al.*, 2006), blueberries (Blatt and Mc Rae, 1997). It is also useful in crop yields of wheat (Caires *et al.*, 2002), red clover (Zheljazkov *et al.*, 2006), brussels sprouts (Carter and Cutcliffe, 1990). Calcium in improvement of yields is also reported in ryegrass (Mora *et al.*, 1999, 2002), soybean (Caires *et al.*, 2006; Bachiega *et al.*, 2007), coffee (Hue, 2005) and tomato (Tuna *et al.*, 2007).

# 2.7.2 Sulphur

Sulphur is one of the essential nutrient elements for plant growth. Sulphur has specific functions during plant growth, metabolism, enzymatic reactions and overall development (Mengel and Kirkby, 1987). Plant takes up approximately the same

amount of sulphur as that of phosphorus (Tandon, 1991). Sulphur is essential in protein and oil production in plants and seeds and in the successful maturation of plants and fruits. Sulphur is required for the synthesis of sulphur-containing amino acids such as cystine, cysteine, and methionine. Sulphur is also a constituent of S-glycosides (mustard oils), coenzymes-A, vitamins such as biotine and thiamine (Tisdale *et al.*, 2003).

Sulphur increases oil, protein and glucosinolate in seeds (Malhi and Gill, 2007); improves nitrogen use efficiency and thus it maintains adequate quality of fatty acids and oil content levels (Fismes *et al.*, 2000). Crop yields and quality can be affected with inadequate S supply as S is necessary for the structure of methionine and cystein, protein, certain amino acids and enzyme synthesis (Hearn, 1981). Restorative crops need less amount of S than oilseeds and legumes (Reisenaue and Duke, 1986). It has been reported that yields in sugar producing crops increase at 60 kg S ha<sup>-1</sup> application in the form of gypsum and observed residual effects on the growth of the ratoon crops (Mathew *et al.*, 2003).

Sulphur application of up to 40 kg S ha<sup>-1</sup> enhanced the average grain yield of maize by 0.99 t ha<sup>-1</sup> (Sakal *et al.*, 2000). Haq *et al.* (1988; 1989) reported 20.5 and 9.8% increase in the yields of maize and wheat respectively, with application of 72 kg S ha<sup>-1</sup>. Furthermore, additional of 22.4 kg S ha<sup>-1</sup> in the form of ammonium sulphate (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>)) increased the yield of maize up to 43.4% compared with the no application of S (Singh and Chhibba, 1987). On the other hand, wheat yield increased by 38.8% with application of 30 kg S ha<sup>-1</sup> (Kushwaha and Prasad, 1998;

Singh and Aggarwal, 1998). An optimum response of soybean to S was observed at an application of 40 kg S ha<sup>-1</sup> (Ganeshamurthy, 1996). Khan *et al.* (2006) reported the increase of maize yield by application of gypsum up to 60 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>. Sumner *et al.* (2008), Scott *et al.* (1993) and Shear (1979) reported an improvement of horticultural crops by gypsum application. Also Scott *et al.* (1993) and Shear (1979) reported that gypsum partially controlled root rot of avocado trees caused by *Phytophthora*, blossom-end rot of watermelon and tomatoes, and bitter pit in apples. A field trial with sunflower conducted by Sreemannarayana *et al.* (1998) showed that oil content and seed yields were highest, 0.45 and 1.28 t ha <sup>-1</sup>, respectively, when N and S were applied together at the rate of 100 kg N and 60 kg S ha<sup>-1</sup>. In addition, seed yield of sunflower was significantly increased with application of S at a rate of 40 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> (Aggrawal and Verma, 1998) and at 10-50 kg S ha<sup>-1</sup> (Subhani *et al.*, 2003).

Gypsum also decreases storage rots of cantaloupe and tomato (Sumner and Larrimore, 2006; Scott *et al.*, 1993; Shear, 1979). A study conducted by Sumner and Larrimore (2006) found that application of flue gas desulfurization (FGD) gypsum at a rate of 181.2-543.6 kg per hectare increased cantaloupe growth, fruit yield, skin calcium content, and time of storage .

# 2.9 Gypsum as a Soil Amendment

Gypsum is the most commonly used amendment for sodic soil reclamation (Amezketa *et al.*, 2005). Excessive sodium on the exchange sites of clay particles causes the clay to dispense thereby filling soil pores with clay (Dontsova *et al.*, 2004). In sodic soils water infiltration is reduced, root development is restricted, and

the soils become compact and hard when dry. Gypsum contains Ca<sup>2+</sup> as its central cation which is easily displaced by Na<sup>+</sup> which predominates in sodic soils thereby forming Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> which is highly soluble in water hence releasing free Na<sup>+</sup> in soil solution. Increase in hydration potential with large amount of water will then leach out Na as Na<sup>+</sup> and retain Ca<sup>2+</sup> back in the soil. The reaction is such that:

 $2Na - clay \ micelle + CaSO_4 \rightarrow Ca - clay \ micelle + Na_2SO_4$  (Leachable)

Therefore, gypsum and good internal drainage are both necessary to reclaim the sodic soils as this prevents clay dispersion and swelling and maintains good surface infiltration rate (Dontsova and Norton, 2002).

# 2.10 Effect of Gypsum on the Physical Properties of Soils

#### 2.10.1 Soil structure

Gypsum helps to reduce the dispersion of the clay that leads to surface crust formation and also slows the rate of surface drying (Norton *et al.*, 1993; Norton and Rhoton, 2007). Soil dispersion is mainly caused by highly hydrated ions, such as Na+ or Mg<sup>2+</sup>, attracted to the surface of clay particles, high levels of single charge ions especially sodium will cause soil particles to disperse this in turn causes poor soil structure, soils erode easily when soil particle don't hold together. Addition of soluble Ca can overcome the dispersion effects of Mg or Na ions and helps to promote flocculation and structure development in dispersed soils. For improvement of soil physical properties gypsum usually should be in the range of 181.2 to 907.2 kg per hectare, in some extreme cases, such as for sodic soils, higher rates may be justified (Brauer *et al.*, 2006; Norton and Rhoton, 2007).

# 2.10.2 Soil crusting

Surface crust strength is largely dependent on clay and moisture content. Gypsum helps reduce the dispersion of the clay that leads to surface crust formation and also slows the rate of surface drying (Norton *et al.*, 1993; Norton and Rhoton, 2007).

The rate of crust development and final strength will be affected by gypsum additions leading to improved seedling emergence and plant establishment and in the reduction of modulus of rupture and resistance to penetration (Brauer *et al.*, 2006). The expected outcome of reducing formation of soil crust is the improved crop yields. Amezketa *et al.* (2005) reported that gypsum was effective in reducing soil crusting. Farina and Channon (1988), Stehouwer *et al.* (1999) and Toma *et al.* (1999) found that gypsum applications to Ca-deficient soils in humid regions had beneficial effects because of Ca movement into the subsoil, thereby improving root growth and lowering water stress.

#### 2.10.3 Water infiltration

Under conditions of significant soil sodium content, application of gypsum to the soil surface at rates of about 0.8 tons per hectare increased water infiltration and reduced surface runoff and erosion (Keren *et al.*, 1983; Morin and Van Winkel, 1996). Generally, if soils are not dispersive, gypsum applications do not help water infiltration. Ben-Hur*et al.* (1992), Endale *et al.* (2014); and Norton *et al.* (1993) reported the effects of using flue gas desulfurization gypsum to reduce P losses and increase water infiltration under simulated rainfall events.

# 2.11 Effect of Gypsum on Chemical Properties of Soils

# 2.11.1 Aluminium toxicity in acid soils

In soils with pH below 5, aluminium becomes more soluble (Al<sup>3+</sup>), which is extremely toxic to plant roots; plant roots bend away from regions of subsoil acidity and end up being restricted to shallow depths. Gypsum corrects this by moving into the subsoil, where its ionic form of calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) displaces aluminium ions from the soil's exchange sites (Farina *et al.*, 2000). Sulphate ions (SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup>) supplied by gypsum can also react with the free aluminium ions to produce aluminium sulphate complexes that are not toxic and are capable of being leached beyond the root zone (Sumner *et al.*, 1986). Farina *et al.* (2001) reported that gypsum is more effective than lime in correcting subsoil acidity to a depth of 0.75 m.

Gypsum reduced subsurface aluminium toxicity and improved deep rooting for water and nutrient uptake by corn, wheat, soybean, sorghum, and leuceana (a forage legume) were dramatically improved (Ritchey *et al.*, 1995). Ritchey *et al.* (1995) also found that the percentage of corn roots which were below 45-cm depth increased by more than 600% with the addition of 1.08 tons per hectare or more of gypsum. Application of gypsum at 1.76 tons per hectare ameliorated subsoil acidity and increased cotton yield and overall cotton quality (Ritchey *et al.*, 1995). Farina *et al.* (2000) found that yields of corn were improved when gypsum was applied to help overcome problems of subsoil acidity.

# 2.11.2 Heavy-metal toxicity

Calcium acts as a regulator of the balance of micronutrients in soils such as iron, zinc, manganese and copper and non-essential trace elements in plants (Brady and

Weil, 2008). Calcium prevents excess uptake of many of these nutrients and once they are in the plants, calcium balances their adverse effects at their high levels (Alva *et al.*, 1993).

# 2.12 Quality of Tanzanian Gypsum

Tanzania is reported to have the best gypsum deposits in the world in terms of percentage purity situated in Pindiro and Mbane, Kilwa in Lindi regions (Tanzania Daily News, 2011). The geological evidence shows that the gypsum has about 90 per cent purity with enough stock to last for several decades, but roads and railway infrastructure poses a challenge to exploit the minerals (Abduel, 2011).

# 2.13 Uses of Gypsum in Tanzania

Itigi gypsite is good for chalk and plaster powder (now under production). The Kilwa occurrence (2Mt) are likely to have enough gypsum for plaster board production (Godfrey *et al.*, 2002). Makoi and Ndakidemi (2007) reported the use of gypsum from Makanya deposit in reclamation of sodic soils in Kilimanjaro of Tanzania. Also Bagarama *et al.* (2012) reported the use of gypsum from Itigi for groundnuts fertilization in Tabora of Tanzania. Aloyce *et al.* (2014) reported the use of gypsum for manufacturing cement for building purposes.

# **CHAPTER THREE**

#### 3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

# 3.1 Description of Gypsite Sampling Sites

# 3.1.1 Makanya site

Makanya is located in Same District, Same is one among the six districts constituting Kilimanjaro Region and it is located in the semi-arid plains of the Western Pare lowlands with coordinates of latitude 4° 15'S and longitude 37° 55' E. Rainfall distribution is bimodal, with an average annual average of 400-600 mm. The short rainy season *Vuli* is experienced during November to January. Short rain is lower and less reliable than the long rainy season *Masika* experienced from March to May. The mean temperatures range from 16 °C (July to August) to 32 °C (January) and the potential surface evaporation exceeds rainfall in five to ten months of the year. The topography is characterized by scattered hills at the foot of the Pare Mountains, descending to undulating and rolling plains and flat, wide depressions. The highlands are the source of numerous springs and streams that drain into the permanent River Pangani.

# 3.1.2 Msagali site

Msagali is a village situated in Mpwapwa District, Dodoma in Tanzania. It is located at latitude 6<sup>o</sup> 45' S and longitude 36<sup>o</sup> 20' E. It is bordered to the west by the Dodoma Urban district, and to the north by the Kongwa District. The area receives an average of about 700 mm per year of rainfall with a unimodal type of distribution of which 90% falls between December and April, and there is usually a dry spell in February.

Average monthly temperatures ranges from a minimum of 15.8 °C in August to a maximum of 27.7°C in November (Mboera *et al.*, 2001).

# 3.1.3 Itigi site

Itigi is situated in Manyoni, Singida, Tanzania. Its geographical coordinates are latitude 5° 42′ 0″ South and longitude 34° 29′ 0″ East. Singida forms part of the semi-arid central zone of Tanzania, which experiences low rainfall and short rainy seasons which are often erratic, with fairly widespread drought in one year out of four. Total rainfall ranges from 500 mm to 800 mm per annum, with high geographical, seasonal and annual variation. There are two rather well defined seasons, the short rainy season during the months of December to March or sometimes goes to April and the long dry season from April to November.

The wetter areas in Singida region are along the escarpment near Kiomboi in Iramba district and in the south-west of Manyoni district near Rungwa, where the long-term mean annual rainfall exceeds 800 mm. The mean annual rainfall is in the range of 600 mm to 800 mm over large areas of Iramba and Singida districts. On the eastern side of Manyoni district near the Bahi Swamp and the Rift Valley depression of Mgori and Shelui divisions lies the drier area in the region where the mean annual rainfall is less than 550 mm. The regional mean annual average rainfall is 700 mm.

The temperatures in the region vary according to altitude but generally range from about 15 °C in July to 30 °C during the month of October. Moreover, temperature differences are observed between day and night and may be very high, with hot afternoons going up to 35 °C and chilly nights going down to 10 °C.

#### 3.1.4 Pindiro site

Pindiro is located in Kilwa District latitude 9° 29'44" S and longitude 39°18'36" E. Is the most northerly district in the Lindi Region of southern Tanzania. To the east is the Indian Ocean, and to the west is the Selous Game Reserve. The area has high annual average temperature of 30.5°C, annual average low temperature of 22.8°C, average temperature 26.7°C also receive annual precipitation of 936 mm.

# 3.2 Sampling and Analysis of Gypsite Samples

# 3.2.1 Sampling

Five composite samples of gypsite were randomly collected from each site including Pindiro, Msagali, Itigi and Makanya. The collected samples, were then placed in labelled polyethylene bags and transported to Soil Science Laboratory at Sokoine University of Agriculture, Morogoro Tanzania where the determination of nutrients extractability, incubation and pot experiment studies were conducted. Some samples were taken to Geological Survey of Tanzania Laboratory in Dodoma, where the determinations of the chemical compositions were carried out.

# 3.2.2 Laboratory analysis

The samples were processed and prepared for laboratory analysis following standard procedures. Chemical compositions of the collected gypsite rocks were determined by using X-ray Fluorescence (XRF) method by the use of XRF machine model: PW4030 with Rh tube and spinner (Khan and Webster, 1968).

Samples were crushed to reduce the size and then mixed well and ground to pass through 75 microns sieve. The ground samples were put in cup covered with

polyesterpetp X-ray film 9430 500 07191 at the bottom and compressed. The samples were then placed into a calibrated XRF machine for analysis. Analysis was done by using *Minipal Analytical Software* at the Geological Survey of Tanzania in Dodoma.

# 3.2.3 Loss on ignition

Porcelain crucibles were heated in the laboratory furnace for 1 h at 100  $^{0}$ C and then crucibles were taken out of furnace with tongs and placed into desiccators to cool at room temperature. Weight of crucibles were taken and noted down in the note book. One gram of each sample was weighed into the crucible and put into the cool furnace then heated to 900  $^{0}$ C for 1 h. The samples were placed in desiccators and cooled at room temperature and thereafter reweighed. Loss on ignition (L.O.I) was calculated by using the formula:

L. O. I (%) = 
$$\frac{M_0 - M_1}{M_0 - M_c} \times 100$$

Whereas  $M_o$  = original mass of sample + crucible;  $M_1$  = mass of ignited sample + crucible; and  $M_c$  = mass of ignite crucible

# 3.2.4 Determination of the Extractability of Sulphur, Calcium, Magnesium and Potentially Toxic Elements (PTEs)

Gypsite rock samples were ground to pass through 0.5 mm sieve to ensure high solubility. Extractable sulphur was determined by using BaCl<sub>2</sub> turbidimetric method and measurement was done using UV Spectrophotometer (Moberg, 2001). Calcium and magnesium were determined in the neutral ammonium acetate leachate (NH<sub>4</sub>OAc, pH 7) saturation method (Moberg, 2001) and quantified by atomic

absorption spectrophotometry. Extractable potentially toxic elements (PTEs) were extracted using buffered 0.05 M DTP A (Diethylenetriamine penta acetic acid) and their concentrations were determined by Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometer (AAS- UNICAM 919 model) (Lindsay and Norvell, 1978). These analyses were conducted at the Sokoine University of Agriculture, in the laboratory of the Department of Soil Science.

## 3.3 Soil Sampling for Incubation and Pot Experiment

One composite soil sample was randomly collected from three different points at the depth of 0-20 cm. The soil for the experiment was collected from SUA Farm, Magadu site at latitude 06<sup>0</sup> 51' 15.0" S and longitude 37<sup>0</sup> 38' 33.1" E, and altitude 540 m mean above sea level. The soil at this site is isohyperthermic, very fine, and kaolinitic Kanhaplic Haplustult (Msanya *et al.*, 2004). The composite soil sample was air-dried, ground and sieved through 2 mm sieve and analysed for physiochemical properties using standard procedures (Moberg, 2001).

## 3.4. Soil preparation for Incubation and Pot Experiment

The soil used for incubation and pot experiment was air-dried, ground and sieved through 8 mm sieve.

## 3.5 Soil Analyses

# 3.5.1 Physical properties of the soil

Physical property determined was the particle size distribution. This was determined by the hydrometer method after dispersing the soil sample in sodium hexametaphosphate solution (Gee and Bauder, 1986) and the corresponding soil textural class was determined using the USDA textural class triangle (USDA, 1995).

# 3.5.2 Chemical properties of the soil

Soil pH was determined using a pH electrode meter in 1:2.5 soil: water suspension as described by McLean, (1982). Total nitrogen was determined by micro-Kjeldahl distillation method followed by distillation (Okalebo, 2002). Available P was determined by spectrophotometer using filtrates extracted according to the Bray-1 method and colour development by ascorbic acid method of (Okalebo, 2002).

Cation exchange capacity (CEC) was determined by using the neutral ammonium acetate (NH<sub>4</sub>OAc, pH 7) saturation method (Moberg, 2001). Exchangeable Ca and Mg in the ammonium acetate leachates were quantified by atomic absorption spectrophotometry, while exchangeable K and Na were quantified using the flame photometer. Extractable Sulphur was determined by the using BaCl<sub>2</sub> turbidimetric method and measurement was done using UV Spectrophotometer (Moberg, 2001).

Extractable micronutrients (Zn, Cu, Fe and Mn) were extracted using buffered 0.005 M DTPA (Diethylene triamine penta acetic acid) and their concentrations determined by an Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometer (AAS - UNICAM 919 model) (Lindsay and Norvell, 1978).

# 3.6 Incubation study

Incubation study was carried out to assess the release of sulphur from gypsites.

Gypsites from Pindiro and Msagali sites were ground to 600 microns. Different rates as per Table 1 of each gypsite were mixed with 500 g of soil prepared as per section 3.4. The type of soil used this study is Kanhaplic Haplustult (Msanya *et al.*,2004)

The mixture was incubated at a temperature of 25± 1°C for 56 days in plastic containers and moistened to 60% of soil moisture field capacity. Soil moisture content was maintained at 60% by intermittent weighing the containers and compensating weight loss with tape water. Destructive sampling was done at 14-day intervals whereby at each sampling 5 g of wet soil was sampled and analyzed for the extractable sulphur by turbidimetric method described by Moberg (2001). Soil pH was determined at 56 days of incubation at 1:2.5 soil: water suspension as described by McLean (1982).

# 3.7 Pot Experiment

# 3.7.1 Preparation

Thirty six 4-kg composite soil samples were weighed into clean five litre plastic pots. Diammonium phosphate (DAP) fertilizer and gypsite were added into each pot according to the treatments and thoroughly mixed with soil before sowing of maize seeds as previously done by Chen *et al.*, 2008; DeSutter and Cihacek, 2009. Gypsites were used as a source of S and was ground to pass through 600 microns sieve before mixing with soil as described by Chawla and Abrol (1982).

Gypsites from Msagali and Pindiro sites were used for pot experiment because of their high contents of S (13.26% and 15.32%, respectively) compared to gypsites from other studied sites. A  $2 \times 6$  factorial experiment was laid down in a randomized complete block design. There were two factors in different levels namely: 1. Gypsite deposits: (i) Msagali, and (ii) Pindiro; 2. Application rates of gypsites (kg ha<sup>-1</sup>). Each

gypsite rate was replicated three times making total of 36 pots because of two gypsite deposits.

In order to avoid limitations that might be caused by N and P deficiencies, DAP [(NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>] was applied uniformly as source of N and P. This was applied at a rate of 150 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> and 75 kg P ha<sup>-1</sup> equivalent to 0.698 g DAP per 4 kg soil pot, respectively. Urea (CO(NH<sub>2</sub>)<sub>2</sub>) was applied in two splits at 0.356 g per 4-kg soil pot to supplement for the deficit N encountered when DAP was applied. First half of urea was applied two weeks after seedlings emergence and the other half at the 4<sup>th</sup> week after seedlings emergence. The N and P applications to the study soil were based on the fertilizer application rates used for maize production in Morogoro region by (Kisetu and Mtakimwa, 2013). Potassium containing fertilizers were not applied because based on the routine soil analysis, the soils had adequate K.

Table 1: Treatments used in the pot experiment and incubation study

Treatments	Rate applied	Application rate(g) of gypsite/pot			
	gypsite kg ha <sup>1-</sup>	Msagali	Pindiro		
T1	0	0	0		
T2	20	0.37	0.32		
Т3	40	0.73	0.63		
T4	80	1.46	1.26		
T5	100	1.83	1.58		
Т6	160	2.20	1.90		

# 3.7.2 Seed sowing

Maize (Zea mays L.) variety TMV-1 was used as a test crop in the pot study experiment. Four seeds were sown in the moistened soil and the moisture content of the soils in the pots was maintained at  $\pm$  90% field capacity for a week prior to

sowing by timely application of tape water to replenish moisture lost due to evapotranspiration.

# 3.7.3 Management of maize plants in pots

Seedlings were thinned to two plants per pot at 12 days after sowing (DAS) and thereafter fertilizers DAP and Urea were applied.

#### 3.8 Data collection

## 3.8.1 Plant height

Data on plant height was measured on weekly basis at 7<sup>th</sup>, 14<sup>th</sup>, 21<sup>st</sup>, 28<sup>th</sup> and 35<sup>th</sup> days after emergence by using tape measure for the measurement taken from the ground level to the tallest leaf.

# 3.8.2 Sampling and analysis of plant and soil samples

Plants were harvested at 35 days of age and the shoots and roots were rinsed in distilled water to remove soil particles. Shoots were harvested by cutting at 1 cm above the soil surface then dried in the oven at 65 °C for 48 h to constant weight. Dry matter weights of the shoots were determined by using digital electrical balance. The dried shoots were ground by using a cyclone mill to obtain powder and sieved through 1-mm sieve after which it was used for laboratory analysis.

In each sample of plant shoots from each treatment, 0.5 g was digested by using  $HNO_3-H_2O_2$  wet digestion method described by Moberg (2001). The digests were used to determine concentrations of nutrients P, K, S, Mg, Ca, Na, Fe, Zn, Cu and Mn. Similarly, 0.2 g of each plant sample was digested using  $H_2O_2-HClO_4$ -HF in tubes in a block digester at 200 °C for 2 h. Thereafter, each digest was cooled and

27

made up to volume of 50 ml and used for the determination of N content of the plants extract.

The soils used in pots were left for two weeks to dry. The soil samples were taken from each pot using a calibrated knife and thereafter ground, mixed evenly and sieved through a 2 mm sieve for determination of pH (MacLean, 1982), macro and micronutrients (Moberg, 2001).

# 3.9 Data Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed on soil pH, maize plant height, shoot dry matter yields, sulphur release in incubation study, nutrients concentrations in soil and plant materials after pot experiment. GenStat Discovery computer Software 14<sup>th</sup> edition was used. Treatment means separation was done using Duncan Multiple Range Test at the 5 % level of significance (Wim *et al.*, 2007).

#### 3.10 Statistical Model

$$yij = {}^{1} + {}^{-}i + ij + {}^{2}ij (5.1)$$

where

*yij* is the response of the *j*th treatment in the *i*th block;

<sup>1</sup> is the average response of all experimental units (overall mean);

 $\overline{i}$  is the additive effect of the *i*th block;

*ij* is the additive effect of the *j*th treatment; and

<sup>2</sup>ij is the random error of the experimental unit that receives the

*j*th treatment in the *i*th block.

#### **CHAPTER FOUR**

#### 4.0 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

## 4.1 Laboratory Analysis of Elemental Composition of the Gypsite

# 4.2.1 Chemical composition of gypsite

The data for chemical composition of the gypsites used in this study are presented in Table 2. The results showed that all gypsite samples were not 100% pure gypsum, having 35.76, 56.76, 71.26 and 82.36% of CaSO<sub>4</sub>·2H<sub>2</sub>O for Itigi, Makanya, Msagali and Pindiro deposits, respectively. Pure gypsum that contains 79% CaSO<sub>4</sub> and 21% 2H<sub>2</sub>O with 18.6% S and 23.3% Ca (Dontsova and Norton, 2002). Results also indicated that gypsites from Msagali and Pindiro contain high contents of S of 13.26% and 15.32%, respectively compared to Itigi and Makanya deposit with 6.65% and 10.52% S, respectively. Calcium contents of all gypsites were 7.6%, 9.5%, 4.8% and 11% for Makanya, Msagali, Itigi and Pindiro, respectively. This variation was probably due to the variation in proportion of chemical elemental compositions of each deposit such as P, Mg, K, Na, Al, Si, Mn, As, Ni, Fe, Zn, Ba, Co and Cr. The compositions and concentrations of elements also depend on the chemistry of the host rock and environmental conditions, activating the weathering process (Brady and Weil, 2008).

Gypsum, calcium or magnesium carbonate, chlorides, other sulphate minerals, clay minerals or silica are considered as deleterious constituents of gypsites. As a result in most mines, production of gypsum will have the purity ranging between 70% and 95%. This study indicates that gypsites in Tanzania are very inconsistent and the percentage of calcium sulphate varies even in the same deposit.

Table 2: The XRF analytical results of the gypsites samples

		Elemental composition													
	L.O.I	SiO2	K2O	CaO	CaSO <sub>4</sub> .2H2O	Al	Cr	Fe	Mn	Co	P	Ni	Na	Ba	Mg
Location		(%)								Mg/kg					
Makanya	21.6	12.96	< 0.01	35.01	56.53	0.18	0.004	0.72	180.78	39.26	11.86	<0.01	43.55	11.11	2062
Msagali	21.28	6.45	0.63	33.17	71.26	0.19	0.008	0.59	120.18	37.61	8.13	< 0.01	35.3	12.47	2355.4
Itigi	24.45	24.39	< 0.01	34.7	35.76	0.18	0.005	0.66	137.85	29.62	14.68	40.8	50.61	13.03	2118.6
Pindiro	21.05	0.88	< 0.01	35.88	82.36	0.08	0.002	0.16	105.78	25.84	6.28	< 0.01	32.07	11.84	2339.3

## 4.2.2 Loss on ignition

Loss on ignition implies the weight of gypsum after being heated. It indicates the prehydration or carbonation due to prolonged exposure to air, water and carbon dioxide. By heating gypsum up to 900 °C, water of crystallization and carbonates were lost. In addition, LOI indicates the quality of analysed samples. Samples with high LOI indicates low quality compared with materials containing low LOI. Results indicated that gypsite sample from Itigi deposit had high LOI (24.45%) hence was considered to have low quality compared to gypsite from Pindiro with 21.05% LOI, which is of the good quality. The results of LOI from the gypsites followed an increasing trend of quality of Itigi (24.45) > Makanya (21.60) > Msagali (21.28) > Pindiro (21.05). These results are in conformity with the findings of Harris (1981) which reported 85% purity of gypsum in Pindiro deposit. In addition, Abduel, (2011) reported that Tanzania has the best gypsum deposits in the world in terms of percentage purity, situated in Pindiro and Mbane, and Kilwa in Lindi region.

## 4.2.3 Macronutrients concentrations

Results of the concentrations of P, K<sub>2</sub>O, CaO, CaSO<sub>4</sub>, Na and Mg in the gypsite samples are shown in Table 2. The amount of total P in all samples was in medium range with values ranging from 6.28 to 14.68 mgkg<sup>-1</sup> (Landon, 1991). Caires *et al.* (2003) reported that gypsum contains P as an impurity, and it is important for plant nutrition.

Potassium oxide ( $K_2O$ ) in Msagali deposit was small (0.63%) while other deposits had  $K_2O < 0.01\%$ . The amount of sodium was in the increasing trend of 32.07 <

35.30 < 43.55 < 50.61 mg/kg for Pindiro, Msagali, Makanya, and Itigi, respectively. Magnesium was high in all deposits whereas CaO and CaSO<sub>4</sub> were variable. However, Pindiro had high amounts of CaSO<sub>4</sub> followed by Msagali, Makanya and Itigi, respectively.

Furthermore, results showed that the studied gypsites had siliceous minerals probably quartz (SiO<sub>2</sub>) as impurities. The amounts of SiO<sub>2</sub> differed among the deposits but Pindiro had the lowest while Itigi recorded the highest SiO<sub>2</sub>. Quartz does not contribute important plant nutrients in soils and thus is regarded as impurities in gypsites.

Results in Table 2 showed that both deposits contain high amounts of Mg with concentration values of 2355.4 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> and 2339.3 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> for Msagali and Pindiro gypsites, respectively. However, only 0.69% and 0.73% equivalent to 16.28 and 17.19 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> can be extracted by plants for metabolism (Table 3). Extractable Ca was 101.97 and 116.05 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> for Msagali and Pindiro gypsites, respectively. The gypsite from Pindiro deposit had more extractable Ca which makes the difference of 14.08 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> more than that found in Msagali deposit.

Table 3: Extractable sulphur, calcium, magnesium and some PTEs (mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) in gypsites from Pindiro and Msagali deposits

Element	Pindiro site	Msagali site
SO <sub>4</sub> -S	750.79	501.97
Mg	17.19	16.28
Ca	116.05	101.97
Cu	1.09	0.95
Fe	< 0.01	< 0.01
Zn	0.05	0.14
Mn	0.62	0.62
Co	< 0.01	< 0.01
Cd	< 0.01	< 0.01
Cr	< 0.01	< 0.01
Pb	< 0.01	< 0.01
Ni	< 0.01	< 0.01

#### 4.2.4 Micronutrients concentrations

The XRF analytical results in Table 2 indicates that the micronutrients Fe was low in all gypsites while Mn was relatively medium compared to the amounts of these elements when present in soils (Landon, 1991). This shows that gypsite can supply Mn for plants.

### 4.2.5 Elements of environmental concern

Heavy metals accumulation in soils is of a major concern in agricultural production due to the adverse effects on food safety and marketability, crop growth due to phytotoxicity and environmental health of soil organisms. Metal toxicity has high impact and relevance to plants and consequently it affects the ecosystem, where the plants form an integral component. Table 3 shows that the amounts of extractable Ni, Cr, Co, Ba, and Al were in acceptable ranges. Dontsova *et al.* (2005) reported that the elements of environmental concern when present in high levels may cause toxicity or may affect the availability and uptake of essential plant nutrients in soils.

Nagajyotib *et al.* (2010) and Allaway (1968) reported the range of heavy metals of typical uncontaminated soils as follows;

Cd 0.01–0.7 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, Co 1– 40 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, Cr 5–3,000 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, Cu 2–100 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, Fe 7,000 –55,000 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, Mn 100 – 4,000 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, Mo 0.2–5 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, Ni 10 – 100 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, Pb 2–200 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> and Zn 10 –300 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>. Analysis of extractable fractions (Table 3) showed that none of the PTEs in gypsites can affect nutrients uptake by plant when applied as amendment or as fertilizer (as source of S and Ca).

Extractable fractions of micronutrients Zn and Mn for gypsites from Msagali and Pindiro were relatively small. According to Tisdale *et al.* (2003), the amount of extractable Zn found in gypsites from Pindiro and Msagali deposits are categorized as low while Cu is categorized as high. The amount of extractable Cu is sufficient when applied in soils. Total amount of Mn in gypsites from Msagali and Pindiro (Table 2) were 120.18 and 105.78 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, respectively but only 0.62 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> could be extractable for both deposits (Table 3). The extractable fractions were equivalent to 0.5% and 0.59% for Msagali and Pindiro, respectively. According to Tisdale *et al.* (2003), 0.62 mg Mn kg<sup>-1</sup> of extractable fractions found in both deposits could be rated as low when present in soils.

Heavy metals are generally toxic to most plants for their metabolism and growth, if their concentrations exceed some maximum permissible limits (Melo *et al.*, 2011). The extractable potentially toxic elements such as extractable Fe, Cd, Cr, Co and Ni found in the studied gypsites were all less than detectable limits and thus, use of these gypsites in soils could not have detrimental effects to plants. Total amount of

Co found in these deposits were 37.61 and 25.84 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> but not easily extracted by plants. This could be attributed to the Co being strongly held in exchangeable sites of minerals present in gypsites. Msaki and Banzi (2010) reported that natural gypsum and gypsum derived products from Tanzania have traces of radioactivity. However, the associated levels are not detrimental to health.

# 4.4 Sulphur Release from Gypsite

The S release increased with time of incubation (Tables 4 and 5). Such mineralization is in synchrony with maize plants demand thus do not necessitating top dressing of S fertilizer as supplement for increased maize yields. Results showed that both deposits released significantly (P<0.05) substantial quantities at the 56 days of incubation compared to other days of incubation (Table 4 and 5). Out of the total released S during the entire period of incubation by each treatment, T2 to T6 ranged from 178 to 579 and 165.1 to 492.2 mg S kg<sup>1-</sup> for Pindiro and Msagali respectively. The amount of S released from Pindiro gypsite by each treatment (T2 to T6) is equivalent to 56.5%, 30%, 39.6%, 35% and 30.5%, respectively. Msagali with treatment (T2 to T6) released 45%, 34.5%, 23.3%, 19.6% and 22.4% of S on the 56<sup>th</sup> days of incubation.

Table 4: Sulphur released from soils treated with gypsite from Msagali deposit under different days of incubation

Days of	0	14	28	42	56			
•	U	14	20	42	30			
incubation								
Treatments (g)	S(mgkg <sup>1-</sup>							
			)					
T1	34.2d*	34.7f	35.1f	34.9f	34.5f			
T2	35.0c	86.9e	88.4e	109.4e	165.1e			
Т3	35.2c	158.2d	180.3d	203.9d	289.1d			
T4	37.5b	203.1c	239.2c	304.1c	340.1c			
T5	37.5b	306.3b	397.7b	403.0b	357.6b			
T6	37.7a	375.5a	401.2a	459.7a	492.2a			
Mean	36.2	192.12	223.64	252.51	279.78			
CV%	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0			
$LSD_{(0.05)}$	0.14	0.15	0.16	0.33	0.32			

\*Means in the same column followed by the same letter(s) are not significantly different at 5% level of significance according to Duncan Multiple Range Test

The results also showed that the studied gypsite from Msagali had residual effects that can benefit next seasons since mineralization will continue to release plant nutrients slowly. Sabir *et al.* (2007) also reported residual effect of gypsum on the yield of wheat crop. Previous studies have shown that in comparison to soil amendment with lime, gypsum releases substantial quantities of Ca and S, which are evenly distributed throughout the soil profile due to high solubility gypsum (Carter *et al.*, 1986; Evanylo, 1989).

Table 5: Sulphur released from soils treated with gypsite from Pindiro deposit under different days of incubation

Days of	0	14	28	42	56
incubation					
Treatments(g)			S(mgkg <sup>-1</sup> )		
T1	34.41c*	35.3f	35.2f	34.8f	34.5f
T2	35.61b	85.1e	80.0e	173.3e	178.6e
T3	36.10b	138.0d	173.7d	190.0d	180.0d
T4	37.43a	227.3c	360.0c	376.6c	500.2c
T5	37.8a	272.3b	390.0b	469.3b	552.9b
T6	37.95a	363.7a	478.0a	501.7a	579.0a
Mean	36.55	186.97	252.9	290.95	337.54
CV%	0.0	0.3	0.1	0.3	2.7
LSD <sub>(0.05)</sub>	0.12	3.67	2.62	3.59	39.96

<sup>\*</sup>Means in the same column followed by the same letter(s) are not significantly different at 5% level of significance according to Duncan Multiple Range Test

# 4.5 Physical and Chemical Properties of Soil used for Incubation and Pot Experiment

The results of the physical and chemical properties of the studied soil are presented in Table 6.

# 4.5.1 Soil pH

Soil pH was 4.8 rated as very strong acid (Landon, 1991). The low value of soil pH at the study site could be due to loss of basic cations such as Ca, Mg and Na down the soil profiles even beyond sampling depth through leaching and surface runoff accelerated by the slant nature of the field where the soil was sampled. The loss of basic cations increases chances for the formation and high solubility of acid

contributing cations such as  $Al^{3+}$  and  $H^{+}$  in the soil solution thereby increasing soil acidity (Brady and Weil 2008).

The significance of pH lies in its influence on the availability of soil nutrients, solubility of toxic nutrient elements in the soil (Al – not a nutrient element, Fe, Cu and Mn), physical breakdown of root cells, cation exchange capacity in soils whose colloids (clay/humus) are pH-dependent, and on biological activity (Brady and Weil, 2008). However, despite the fact that texture and pH of this soil promise nutrients availability, it could be the case for most micronutrients including Cu, Zn, Mn, Fe, whose potential solubility increases under acidic soils with border pH ranges (5.0 – 6.0) and B and Cl which are independent of pH ranges (Brady and Weil, 2008).

Table 6: Chemical and physical properties of the experimental soils collected from Magadu SUA Farm

II om Magadu SOA Fari	11		
Parameter	SI-unit	Value	Status
pH (H <sub>2</sub> O)		4.8	*Very strong acid
Total nitrogen	%	0.1	Low
Available phosphorus	mg/kg	2.72	Low
Extractable SO <sub>4</sub> -S	mg/kg	35.24	Medium
Calcium	cmol (+)/kg	3.5	Low
Sodium	cmol (+)/kg	0.1	Low
Magnesium	cmol (+)/kg	1.7	High
Potassium	cmol (+)/kg	0.35	Medium
Cation exchange capacity (CEC)	cmol (+)/kg	16	Medium
Cu	mg/kg	2.4	High
Zn	mg/kg	8.7	High
Fe	mg/kg	85	Very high
Mn	mg/kg	82.2	High
Particle size			
Sand	%	39	
Clay	%	55	
Silt	%	6	
Textural class			Clay

<sup>\*</sup>Status column is based on the ratings compiled by Landon (1991)

## **6.2.2** Extractable Phosphorus

The available P of the studied soil was 2.72 mg P kg<sup>-1</sup> which is very low (< 6 mg P kg<sup>-1</sup>) (Landon, 1991). Therefore, the very low available P implies that the soil is deficient in P calling for supplemental application for optimum crop production. According to Kisetu and Mtakimwa (2013), for optimum maize production in Magadu SUA Farm fields with very low available P, there should be deliberate application of at least 25 kg P ha<sup>-1</sup>. Kisetu *et al.* (2013) reported that the low levels of available P in the soils of Magadu site of SUA Farm was attributed to the high leaching of basic cations thereby increasing soil acidity by acid forming cations (Al and H) and the hydro-oxides of Fe. These hydrated oxides have high ability of retaining P into forms which are unavailable for plant uptake. In other areas, previous studies have indicated that the low amounts of available P are caused by precipitation by Al, Fe, Mn, and by fixation of both oxides of Al, Fe, Mn and kaolinitic clays (Abrol *et al.*, 1988).

## 4.5.2 Soil Texture

The clayey nature of the studied soil suggests that the soil is potentially very reactive with numerous nutrients' exchange sites. Soil clay particles have been reported to increase availability of essential nutrient elements through cations and phosphates retention and render them susceptible for plant absorption (Kisetu *et al.*, 2013). According to Mutert and Fairhurst (2002), soil clay particles enhance retention and ease release of large amounts of the essential nutrient elements and increase water retention and availability to plants.

# 4.5.3 Total nitrogen

According to Landon (1991), the levels of nitrogen are low (0.1 - 0.2%) and this is attributed to the low organic matter and its soil parent material. This shows that the soils from this farm need to be supplied with organic matter and nitrogen in order to improve the N reserve in the soil. The low soil's total N indicates that N is deficient for the crop and this might be associated with N losses or N being not or poorly replenished during cropping cycles. Poor agronomic practices and cultivation systems have effects on the annual depletion of N in cultivated soils (Bekunda *et al.*, 2004).

# 4.5.4 Cation exchange capacity and exchangeable Cations

The cation exchange capacity (CEC) of the studied soil was medium (Table 6). Soils with CEC below 15 (cmol (+)/kg) are considered to be of low fertility status (Landon, 1991). Despite the high clay content the CEC of this soil is medium and this might be attributed to the clay. It is likely that the soil is dominated by low activity clay minerals such as kaolinite and aluminium and iron oxides (Szilas *et al.*, 2005). London (1991) reported the soil CEC ranges between 15 cmol (+)/kg and 25 cmol (+)/kg to be satisfactory for growth of most plants. Based on the ratings by Landon (1991) and Tisdale (2003) the levels of exchangeable bases (Table 6) are low for Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Na<sup>+</sup>, medium for K <sup>+</sup> and high for Mg<sup>2+</sup>.

# 4.5.6 Extractable sulphate

The level of soil's extractable S was medium with value of 35.24 mg kg<sup>1-</sup> SO<sub>4</sub> (Landon, 1991). This level of S in the soil might be associated with previous

application of S containing fertilizers (Johnson Semoka, 2015; Personal communication). Brady and Weil (2002), Hall (2008) and Tandon (1984) reported that several factors contribute to sulphur deficiencies including increased use of Sfree high analysis fertilizers, multiple and high intensity cropping, removal of crop residues for feed and fuel, leaching and erosion.

#### 4.5.7 Level of micronutrients

Results in Table 6 indicate that the amount of Cu in the studied soil was above the critical range of (2.4 mg Cu /kg). This level of Cu indicates that the soil has adequate Cu. On the other hand, the extractable Zn in the soil was above the critical levels of 0.2 to 2.0 mg/kg suggesting that the amount of Zn in this soil is very high and does not easily reflect its deficiency to plants under other optimal crop growth conditions (Sims and Johnson, 1991).

Based on the critical ranges of Fe (2.5 to 5.0 mg/kg) and Mn (1.0 to 5.0 mg/kg) (Sims and Johnson, 1991), the quantities of Fe and Mn in the studied soil were below the critical levels. Landon (1991) indicated that the levels of micronutrients, Cu, Fe, Mn and Zn under acidic conditions (pH of 5.0) should be high or reaching the toxic levels. This could be attributed by the parent material having high level of micronutrients; hence, high is released to the soil solution (Landon, 1991).

## 4.8 Response of maize to the applied gypsites

Results on the response of maize plants to the application of gypsite from Msagali and Pindiro sites are presented in Table 7. The results revealed that plant height was

significantly (P<0.05) enhanced by applied amendments (gypsites). Plant height increased with increasing S levels, whereas the highest plant heights of 137.3 cm and 141.3 cm were obtained by application of 2.196 g/pot and 1.896 g/pot of gypsites for Msagali and Pindiro, respectively. The increase in plant height is attributed to the applied nitrogen due to its ability to promote plant growth, increases the number and length of internodes which results in progressive increase in plant height (Gasim, 2001). Similar results were reported by Koul (1997), Saigusa *et al.* (1999), Gasim, (2001) and Amin, (2011). This finding shows that the combination of S and N as plant nutrients increased plant height. This is also in agreement with the findings of Sahid *et al.* (1990), Omara (1989), Bindra and Kharwara (1994), Elmar (2001), Abdelnd Gader (2007) and Amin (2011). However, the remarkable increase in maize plant height attained for Pindiro gypsite could be attributed to its purity with S of 15.32% compared with Msagali deposit with S of 13.26 %.

Table 7: Effect of gypsites on plant height and shoot dry matter yields

Treatments	Plant he	eight (cm)	Shoot dry n	natter (g/pot)
	Msagali	Pindiro	Msagali	Pindiro
T1 (control)	128.3c*	125.7f	19.81f	18.66d
T2	126.3e	135.0d	20.18e	16.93e
T3	127.0d	136.7c	21.76d	18.64d
T4	131.7b	137.3b	22.68c	25.62a
T5	137.0a	132.7e	24.73b	20.48c
T6	137.3a	141.3a	25.41a	24.16b
Mean	131.3	134.8	22.4	20.7
$LSD_{(0.05)}$	13.98	16.44	8.86	10.36
CV (%)	3.4	2.1	1.6	7.7

<sup>\*</sup>Means in the same column followed by the same letter(s) are not significantly different at 5% level of significance according to Duncan Multiple Range Test

The results showed that for the gypsite from Msagali deposit the lowest shoot dry matter weight (19.81 g/pot) was recorded from the absolute control and differed statistically (P<0.05) with the shoot dry matter weight values obtained from other treatments. Gypsite application at 2.2g (Table 6) significantly (P<0.05) increased shoot dry matter yield to 25.41 g/pot compared with the absolute control (19.81 g/pot). High dry matter yield with sulphur application was also reported by Kochar *et al.* (1990), Mahmood (1995) and Grobler *et al.* (1999).

Furthermore, results indicated that gypsite from Pindiro deposit showed significant (*P*<0.05) difference in shoot dry matter. The findings of this study suggest that higher rates of S from gypsite could not necessarily increase shoot dry matter yield in maize, and thus the optimum shoot dry matter content of 25.62 g/pot could be achieved at an application of 1.26g of gypsite per pot equivalent to 80 kg/ha of S. Khan *et al.* (2006) reported the increase in maize yield by application of gypsum up to 60 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>. In two other similar studies Haq *et al.* (1988; 1989), 20.5 and 9.8% increase in the maize yield and wheat, respectively, were recorded with application of 72 kg S ha<sup>-1</sup>. Furthermore, Sakal *et al.* (2000) reported that S application up to 40 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> enhanced the average grain yield of maize by 0.99 t ha<sup>-1</sup>. Ganeshamurthy, (1996) reported the optimum response of soybean to S at 40 kg S ha<sup>-1</sup>. Subhani (2003) reported that application of different S fertilizers (10-50 kg S ha<sup>-1</sup>) significantly increased the yield of maize crop.

# 4.9 Effect of Gypsite on Some Chemical Properties of the Soil

Results of the effect of gypsite application on some soil properties are presented in (Tables 8, 9 and 10), and discussed under this section.

## 4.9.1 Soil pH

The levels of soil pH were reduced by 3.6% and 3.8% after pot experiment and by 8.79% and 8.74% after incubation using gypsites from Pindiro and Msagali deposits, respectively (Table 8). The pH declined significantly (*P*<0.05) with the increase in amounts of gypsite compared to the untreated (control) soil. This clearly shows that both sources of sulphur (gypsites) have an acidifying effect on soil pH. This indicates the need for liming along with the application of gypsite to the soils, which is not only to neutralize the soil acidity but favours sulphur availability.

According to Shainberg *et al.* (1989), the magnitude of the soil pH to change with gypsum, when present, can vary from 0.2 to 0.3 units, and these differences usually do not appear in pH as measured in CaCl<sub>2</sub>. Gypsum can decrease the pH by replacement of exchangeable H and Al by Ca, or increase pH by replacement of exchangeable OH<sup>-</sup> by SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup>. Results have been reported to have an increase, decrease, or little effect of gypsum on soil pH (Ernani *et al.* 2004; Farina *et al.*, 2000; Toma *et al.*, 1999; Shainberg *et al.*, 1989; Pavan *et al.*, 1984). Also Dash *et al.* (2012) reported the changes in soil pH due to gypsum application in acid soils.

Table 8: Effect of gypsites from Msagali and Pindiro deposits on soil pH (water) after 35 and 42 days of pot experiment and incubation study, respectively

35 d	ays pot experimen	nt	42 days of in	42 days of incubation		
	pH wate	er (1:2.5)	pH w	vater (1:2.5)		
Treatments	Msagali	Pindiro	Msagali	Pindiro		
T1	4.8a*	4.8a	4.5a	4.4a		
T2	4.7b	4.7b	4.3b	4.3b		
T3	4.7b	4.6c	4.2c	4.2c		
T4	4.6c	4.7b	4.1d	4.1d		
T5	4.6c	4.8a	4.1d	4.1d		
T6	4.6c	4.8a	4.1d	4.1d		
Mean	4.7	4.71	4.2	4.19		
LSD(0.05)	0.07	0.13	0.18	0.14		
CV%	0.1	0.9	1.1	0.3		

<sup>\*</sup>Means in the same column followed by similar letter(s) are not statistically different at 5% level of significance according to Duncan Multiple Range Test

Verma and Abrol (1980) reported that decrease in soil pH may be due to replacement of Na<sup>+</sup> by Mg<sup>+</sup> and Ca<sup>+</sup> in the exchange sites of clay complex through addition of gypsite that supplied soluble calcium directly to the soil. In the present study, soil pH decreased by more than 0.18 and 0.39 units for pot and incubation experiments, respectively, and these results are similar with those of Soliman *et al.* (1992) where a decrease in soil pH by 0.2, 0.5 and 0.9 units was reported as a result of increasing S applications. The findings of this study are also in line with those of Velarda *et al.* (2005) who observed a small (0.3 units), non-significant reduction in soil pH with application of 125 kg S ha<sup>-1</sup>. Soaud *et al.* (2011) observed a significant reduction in pH of calcareous soils due to S application during first eight weeks of incubation and

after soil pH started to increase over time. Skwierawska *et al.* (2008) recorded a significant reduction in soil pH from 5.3 to 4.36 with application of 120 kg S/ha at the end of a three year experiment. Also unpublished data by Gwasso (2003) indicates that soil pH levels were reduced by 21% due to application of gypsum.

# 4.9.2 Available phosphorus

The quantity of available P was not affected by the application of gypsites (Tables 9 and 10) from both Msagali and Pindiro deposits. Since DAP was applied uniformly in all pots as P source during sowing of maize, some but insignificant (*P*<0.05) effects of gypsites on P concentration could be due to applied DAP. The P content in gypsites was 6.28 and 8.13 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> for Pindiro and Msagali, respectively, compared to the very low amount of available P in untreated soil.

46

Table 9: Effect of gypsite from Msagali deposit on soil nutrient levels after 35 days of pot experiment

	N	K	Ca	Mg	Na	P	SO <sub>4</sub> -S	Fe	Zn	Cu	Mn
Treatment	%		cmol(+)	kg <sup>-1</sup>				mg/	kg		
T1	0.14a*	0.21b	3.93c	1.21a	0.12a	16.28ab	36.41a	78.95b	8.3bc	1.87ab	61.2c
T2	0.13a	0.24a	4.38ab	1.16a	0.13a	14.59a	79.78b	78.42b	8.3bc	1.97a	59.2d
Т3	0.14a	0.21b	4.12ab	1.08a	0.12a	15.14ab	59.15c	78.68b	7.8ab	1.87ab	59.2d
T4	0.14a	0.20ab	4.63b	1.21a	0.12a	13.06a	64.41ab	79.74b	8.2bc	1.70c	63.1b
T5	0.14a	0.19c	4.69b	1.13a	0.13a	16.32ab	86.88a	77.89b	7.6a	1.78b	62.7ab
T6	0.14a	0.19c	5.02a	1.31a	0.12a	18.80b	80.18b	87.37a	8.4c	1.97a	71.5a
Mean	0.13	0.206	4.49	1.18	0.12	15.7	67.8	80.18	8.1	1.86	62.8
LSD	0.01	0.04	0.72	0.31	0.02	3.6	38.01	5.4	0.5	0.17	8.92
CV (%)	3	2.7	1.1	4	5.1	6	10.6	3.7	0.7	2.8	1.6

<sup>\*</sup>Means in the same column followed by similar letter(s) are not statistically different at 5% level of significance according to Duncan Multiple Range Test

47

Table 10: Effect of gypsite from Pindiro deposit on soil nutrient levels after 35 days of pot experiment

	N	K	Ca	Mg	Na	P	SO <sub>4</sub> -S	Fe	Zn	Cu	Mn
Treatments	% cmol (+) kg <sup>-1</sup>			mg kg <sup>-1</sup>							
T1	0.14a*	0.24a	3.93b	1.13ab	0.12a	21.71a	37.3f	87.37b	8.1bc	1.87a	65.1a
T2	0.13a	0.22b	4.69a	1.22a	0.13a	17.62a	70.6e	80.00c	7.4a	1.77a	65.9a
Т3	0.14a	0.20ab	4.89a	1.18ab	0.13a	20.29a	181.5d	80.79c	8.4bcd	1.80a	63.9b
T4	0.13a	0.22b	4.89a	1.21b	0.13a	18.68a	190.5c	90.53a	8.6cd	1.91a	65.5a
T5	0.13a	0.20ab	4.69a	1.10c	0.12a	19.70a	232.1b	82.37bc	8.8d	1.77a	66.3a
Т6	0.14a	0.22b	4.23a	1.08c	0.11a	18.92a	318.6a	81.58bc	7.8ab	1.87a	67.9a
Mean	0.13	0.216	4.55	1.151	0.12	19.49	171.8	83.77	8.2	1.83	65.8
LSD(<0.05)	0.01	0.02	0.3	0.12	0.03	7.3	148.1	5.08	0.65	0.17	13.73
CV (%)	0.7	3.2	2.2	2	4.5	5.2	6.6	1.5	1.7	3.8	1.8

<sup>\*</sup>Means in the same column followed by similar letter(s) are not statistically different at 5% level of significance according to Duncan Multiple Range Test

The findings of this study revealed that the post-harvest analysis signifies increase in the available P in the soil. This could be due to addition of high amounts of Ca ions that could have contributed to the decrease in P availability (Elrashidi *et al.*, 2010). Ritche *et al.* (1995) reported a decrease in P concentration in soil due to gypsum application. Caires *et al.* (2003; 2006) reported that P contained in the gypsum as an impurity is important for plant nutrition when high rates of gypsum are applied.

## 4.9.3 Total nitrogen

The levels of total N did not differ significantly with application of gypsites from both Msagali and Pindiro deposits. Although total N was statistically similar across all treatments, there was a general increase in total N contents in soils from 0.13 to 0.14%.

# 4.9.4 Exchangeable bases

For the levels of exchangeable bases Ca increased by 19.6 and 21.7% in Pindiro and Msagali deposits compared to untreated/control soil. Similar trend had also been observed by Verma and Abrol (1980), Menzies *et al.* (1994), Ritchey *et al.* 1995), Ernani and Miquelluti (2006), and Ernani and Barber (1993). These findings suggest that gypsum can be beneficial to crops with high calcium requirements in acid (Toma *et al.*, 1999) and non-acid soils (Laya *et al.*, 1998).

The levels of exchangeable K were also not affected by the application of gypsites from both Msagali and Pindiro deposits. The soil which did not receive gypsite from Pindiro deposit had significantly (P < 0.05) higher K compared with the K from the

soil treated with different rates of gypsite. The variation was not observed in gypsite from Msagali deposit among gypsite levels and with the absolute control. These observations could be attributed to the fact that gypsite and other treatments used in this study do not contain K, and thus, the K obtained is related to its exchangeable potential in the soil ecosystem. These findings are similar to those of Ernani and Miquelluti (2006) who found that the application of gypsum had no effect on the levels of extractable K.

The levels of exchangeable Mg were affected by the application of gypsites. In the soil treated with gypsites from Pindiro and Msagali deposits Mg increased by 12% and 17% respectively. The results in Tables 9 and 10 showed that there was no systematic trend increase in exchangeable Mg with increase in rates of gypsite application. Also there was no significant (P<0.05) difference in the amounts of Mg among gypsite levels from Msagali deposit. On the other hand, only application of gypsite at 1.26 and 1.9 g from Pindiro deposit showed variations in exchangeable Mg compared with the untreated soil. In comparison between the two gypsites, the gypsite from Msagali deposit was superior to gypsite from Pindiro deposit on increasing exchangeable Mg. Similar findings were reported by Menzies *et al.* (1994) that Mg availability in soil increased with application of gypsum. Results generated for the gypsite from Msagali deposit are in line with those of Ernani and Miquelluti (2006) and Ritchey *et al.* (1995) who reported that the application of gypsum had no effect on extractable Mg.

Results in Table 9 and 10 indicated that the exchangeable Na was not affected by the application of the two gypsites. There was no significant difference in Na for the soils treated with gypsites from both Pindiro and Msagali deposits. However, application of gypsite from Pindiro deposit at 1.9g reduced Na by 0.01 units showing that the application of Pindiro gypsite in rates higher than 160 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> could result in reduction in Na. Vema and Abrol (1980) and Chauhan (1995) observed the reduction in Na due to the application of gypsum but in unspecified rates and rock-source.

# 4.9.5 Available SO<sub>4</sub>-S

Results in Tables 9 and 10 showed that application of gypsites from both Pindiro and Msagali deposits at all levels resulted into significant (P<0.05) increase in SO<sub>4</sub>-S concentration compared with the untreated soil as indicated in (Tables 9 and 10). Maximum SO<sub>4</sub>-S concentration of 318.6 and 86.88 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> in soil was recorded at an application of gypsites at rates equivalent to 160 and 100 kg S ha<sup>-1</sup> for Pindiro and Msagali, respectively. The SO<sub>4</sub>-S build up in soils with increasing application of S has also been reported by Sreemanarayana and Raju (1994), Ritchey *et al.* (1995) and Barbora (1995). Balangoudar *et al.* (1999) also reported that the available sulphur content in soils increased with increase in sulphur levels from 0 to 40 kg S ha<sup>-1</sup> after harvests of green gram.

# 4.9.6 Extractable micronutrients

Results in Table 9 and 10 indicates that extractable Cu did not differ significantly (P<0.05) among the gypsite rates from Pindiro deposit (Tables 9 and 10). On the other hand, gypsite from Msagali deposit applied at 0.37 and 2.2 significantly

(*P*<0.05) increased levels of Cu in the soil. The amounts of Cu from the soil treated with gypsites ranged from 1.77 to 1.87 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> for Pindiro deposit and from 1.70 to 1.97 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> for Msagali deposit. Sims and Johnson (1991) reported that the critical range of Cu is from 0.1 to 0.25 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> and 0.2 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> of Cu in soils is adequate for plant growth (Lindsay and Norvell, 1978). Application of gypsite from Pindiro deposit at 1.26g increased the amount of Cu by 2.1% and application of gypsite from Msagali deposit at 0.37 and 2.2 increased the amount of extractable Cu by 5.1%.

The quantities of Zn in the study soils differed significantly (P<0.05) with application of gypsites from both Pindiro and Msagali deposits. The quantities of Zn ranged from 7.4 to 8.8 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> and 7.6 to 8.4 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> for Pindiro and Msagali deposits, respectively as shown in (Tables 9 and 10). Application of gypsite from Pindiro deposit at 1.26 and 1.9g increased the amounts of Zn by 5.8 and 8%, respectively. With application of gypsite from Msagali deposit at 2.2 g the amount of Zn increased by 1.2%.

The amounts of extractable Mn did not differ significantly (P<0.05) with application of gypsite Pindiro deposit (Tables 9 and 10). However, for application of gypsite from Msagali deposit showed variations in the quantities of Mn and a rate of 2.2 g was significantly (P<0.05) the highest (71.5 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) as indicated in (Tables 9 and 10). The values of Mn in the soil for all treatments ranged from 63.9 to 67.9 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> and 59.2 to 71.5 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> for the application of gypsites from Pindiro and Msagali deposits, respectively.

Moreover, results in Tables 9 and 10 showed that extractable Fe in all treatments regardless of the gypsite sources showed significant (P<0.05) difference. However, the amounts of Fe when gypsites were applied at T4 and T6 were higher than the rest of the treatments for the gypsites from both Pindiro and Msagali deposits. The quantities of Fe for all treatments ranged from 80.0 to 90 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> and 77.89 to 87.37 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> for Pindiro and Msagali deposits, respectively. These values indicated that application of gypsites from Pindiro and Msagali deposits generally increased the quantities of Fe by 3.5% and 9.6%, respectively, compared with the soil which was not treated with gypsites. Archana and Jitendra (2014) indicated that the application of gypsum significantly influenced the soil's available macronutrients such as N, P, K, and S and micronutrients such as Fe, Cu, Zn and Mn which could be associated with acidification that favours solubility of most micronutrients in soils (Vijay *et al.*, 1997).

# 4.10 Effect of Gypsites on Nutrients Concentrations in Maize Shoots

# 4.10.1 Nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium

The results of effect of gypsites on N, P and K concentrations in maize plant shoots are presented in Table 11

Nitrogen concentration in maize shoots ranged from 1.2 to 1.5% and 1.4 to 2.6% for the application of gypsite from Msagali and Pindiro deposits, respectively (Table 11). These values are below the sufficiency range of N (3.5 - 5%) established for shoots of maize plants of 24 to 45 days after emergence (Lockman, 1984; Vandamme, 2008). The application of gypsites did not increase the concentration of N in maize shoots. These findings are similar with the findings generated from different studies conducted by Caires *et al.* (1999; 2003; 2004) who did not observe effect of gypsum application on the N concentration in maize tissues.

Table 11: Effect of gypsites from Msagali and Pindiro on nutrients N, P and K concentrations in maize plant shoots

		Msagali dep	osit	Pindiro deposit				
Treatments	N	P	K	N	P	K		
		(%)		(%)				
T1	1.3a	0.10a	1.34b	1.5a	0.14a	1.46c		
T2	1.5a	0.12ab	1.36b	1.4a	0.09a	1.49c		
Т3	1.2a	0.15b	1.49c	2.3c	0.16a	0.82a		
T4	1.4a	0.08a	1.06a	2.6d	0.04b	1.11ab		
T5	1.3a	0.21c	0.98a	1.9b	0.09a	1.41b		
T6	1.3a	0.08a	1.35a	1.5a	0.11a	1.47b		
Mean	1.3	0.12	1.26	1.9	0.11	1.29		
LSD(0.05)	0.3	0.116	0.625	0.8	0.19	0.3		
CV (%)	2	0.124	5.6	9.1	23.1	3.3		

<sup>\*</sup>Means in the same column followed by similar letter(s) are not statistically different at 5% level of significance according to Duncan Multiple Range Test

The concentration of P in maize shoots ranged from 0.04 to 0.16 % and 0.08 to 0.21% following applications of gypsites from Pindiro and Msagali deposits, respectively (Table 11). The sufficiency range of P (0.3 - 0.6%) was established for shoots of maize plants of 24 to 45 days after emergence (Lockman, 1984; Vandamme, 2008). These findings indicate that the concentrations of P in maize shoots for all treatments were below the sufficiency range suggesting that application of gypsites from both deposits did not increase P concentrations in maize shoots. This would probably be due to low solubility of gypsite thereby causing slow release of P in soil solution for maize plant uptake. Abrol *et al.* (1988) observed that in soils with low pH (<5) level P is likely to be fixed by hydrous-oxides of Fe, Mn, and Al

hence hampering quantities of P released into soil solution. Kordlaghari and Rowell (2006) reported the reduction of P solubility by the application of gypsum.

The findings of the present study are also in agreement with those of Clark *et al.* (2001; 1997) who found that corn shoot P concentration decreased with increasing amounts of gypsum applications. However, in contrary, Stout *et al.* (2000) did not find any effect of agricultural gypsum on P uptake by the plant. Cox *et al.* (2005) found that the addition of gypsum increased the ability of the soils to retain P by the exchange of Ca for Al, Fe, and Mn. In addition, Moore and Miller (1994) and Coale *et al.* (1994) indicated that gypsum reduced P solubility by enhancing Ca-P precipitation.

Gypsites application did not affect K concentrations in the maize shoots. The concentration of K in maize shoots ranged from 0.98 to 1.36% and 0.82 to 1.49% for the application of gypsites from Msagali and Pindiro deposits, respectively (Table11). These results indicated that concentration of K in maize shoots is below the sufficiency range of 2.5 to 5.0% proposed by Steinhilber and Salak (2009) and Tisdale (1993). This low concentration of K in maize shoot could be attributed to the high hydration potential of K in highly weathered soils and its easiness of being leached beyond the root zone (Kisetu *et al.*, 2013).

## 4.10.3 Calcium, magnesium and sulphur

Results on the effect of gypsites on Ca, Mg and S in maize plant shoots are presented in Table 12. Gypsite rates of both deposits caused an increase in Ca concentration in

the maize shoots (Table 12). Calcium concentrations ranged from 2.39 to 2.93% and 1.92 to 3.12% for the applications of gypsites from Pindiro and Msagali deposits, respectively. These concentrations are in sufficiency range of 0.5 - 1.6% established for shoot maize plants of 24 to 45 days after emergence based on the ratings given by Lockman (1984) and Vandamme (2008). Caires *et al.* (1999; 2003; 2004) reported increase in Ca concentration in maize leaves due to gypsum application whereas Sanderson and Eaton (2004) reported increase in leaf tissue Ca concentration in low bush blueberry.

Table 12: Effect of gypsites on nutrients Ca, Mg and S concentrations in maize plant shoots

	N	Msagali dep	osit	P	indiro depo	sit
Treatments	Ca	Mg	S	Ca	Mg	S
		(%)			(%)	
T1	1.92ab	0.12ab	0.14c	2.39a	0.12a	0.14c
T2	3.12a	0.20a	0.18ab	2.53a	0.12a	0.16ab
T3	2.99b	0.18ab	0.20ab	2.93a	0.15a	0.18abc
T4	2.45b	0.13ab	0.22a	2.73a	0.16a	0.22a
T5	1.85c	0.08c	0.19ab	2.86a	0.17a	0.21bc
T6	2.39b	0.12ab	0.22a	2.46a	0.12a	0.20bc
Mean	2.45	0.14	0.20	2.65	0.14	0.18
LSD(0.05)	1.13	0.1033	0.06	0.76	0.05	0.04
CV (%)	6.2	8.6	7.8	2.65	6.7	4.6

<sup>\*</sup>Means in the same column followed by similar letter(s) are not statistically different at 5% level of significance according to Duncan Multiple Range Test.

The concentrations of Mg in maize shoots ranged from 0.12 to 0.17% and 0.08 to 0.20% with the highest values of 0.17% and 0.20% being recorded in application of gypsites at 1.58 and 0.37g from Pindiro and Msagali deposits, respectively (Table 12). The lowest Mg concentrations of 0.12 and 0.08% were recorded in application of gypsites at 1.9 and 1.83g from both deposits. The critical range of Mg in maize shoots is given as 0.15 to 0.6% established for shoots of maize plants at 24 to 45 days after emergence suggested by Lockman (1984), Tisdale (1991) and Steinhilber and Salak (2009). These findings suggest that, the sufficient range of Mg concentration in the studied maize plant was achieved at applications of gypsites at 40, 80,100 for Pindiro deposit, and 20 and 40 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> for Msagali deposit.

Results showed that S concentrations in maize shoots increased with increasing rates of gypsites applied, ranging from 0.14 - 0.22% with the highest value being 0.22% observed in 1.26 and 1.9 g applied gypsites from Pindiro and Msagali deposits, respectively (Table 12). The lowest S concentration of 0.14% was recorded in the control Pots where no gypsite was applied. The critical level of S in maize leaves is from 0.18 to 0.5% established for shoots of maize plants with age of 24 to 45 days after emergence (Lockman, 1984). The findings of this study indicated that S sufficient level was achieved with application of gypsites at 0.63, 1.26, 1.58, 1.9 g and 0.37, 0.73, 1.46, 1.83, 2.2g from Pindiro and Msagali deposits, respectively.

Increases in S concentration in maize shoots with gypsite application were also reported by Mahapatra *et al.* (2000), Toatia *et al.* (2000), Caires *et al.* (1999; 2003; 2004). Hitsuda *et al.* (2005) also found that S fertilization increased plant S

concentrations. In addition, Farina and Channon (1988) reported enhanced S nutrition following gypsum application to maize and alfalfa. Similarly, Sanderson *et al.* (1996b) reported enhanced S nutrition in cabbage following gypsum application.

## 4.10.5 Micronutrients in maize shoots

Results on the effect of gypsites on some micronutrients concentrations in maize plant shoots are presented in Table 13.

The concentrations of Cu in maize shoots ranged from 5.34 to 9.59 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> and 4.8 to 8.26 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (Table 13) for the application of gypsites from Msagali and Pindiro deposits, respectively. The sufficiency ranges of Cu in shoots of maize plants of 24 to 45 days after emergence are given as 6 to 20 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (Tisdale, 1993; Steinhilber and Salak, 2009). The sufficient range of Cu in the studied maize shoots was achieved when gypsites were applied at 20, 80,100,160 and 160 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> from Msagali and Pindiro deposits, respectively. The highest level of Cu was recorded when gypsites were applied at 160 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> with Cu concentration values of 9.59 and 8.26 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> for Msagali and Pindiro deposits, respectively. This shows that application of high rates of gypsites could increase Cu concentrations in maize shoots but age of the maize plant should be specified. Ghosh *et al.* (2000) and Rahman *et al.* (2011) reported significant increase in Cu uptake by plants and attributed this with the acidification effect produced as a result of S addition from application of gypsum.

Table 13: Effect of gypsites on nutrients Zn, Cu, Fe and Mn concentrations in maize plant shoots

	Msagali deposit				Pindiro deposit			
Treatments	Zn	Cu	Fe	Mn	Zn	Cu	Fe	Mn
	mg kg <sup>-1</sup>				mg kg <sup>-1</sup>			
T1	40.57abc	5.34a	148.1c	22.95d	44.49b	5.60b	152c	24.0b
T2	45.88a	6.93a	163.6a	26.10b	39.50b	5.60b	192a	24.0b
Т3	37.01c	5.87a	163.6a	24.0c	44.96b	4.80b	148c	23.65b
T4	43.89ab	8.26a	143.6ab	30.99a	40.21b	4.80b	146c	23.30b
T5	37.60ab	7.50a	143.6ab	24.35c	51.73a	5.60b	170ab	27.15a
T6	44.25ab	9.59b	207.9b	25.75b	43.65b	8.26a	190b	22.95b
Mean	41.53	7.24	161.7	26.7	44.1	5.78	167	24.18
LSD(0.05)	6.471	5.18	51.98	5.17	11.96	1.67	101	3.6
CV (%)	5.4	9.4	5.2	4.4	3.8	1.3	7.1	4.14

<sup>\*</sup>Means in the same column followed by similar letter(s) are not statistically different at 5% level of significance according to Duncan Multiple Range Test

The concentrations of Fe in maize plant shoots increased with application of gypsites and ranged from 143.6 to 207.9 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> and 146 to 190 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> for Msagali and Pindiro deposits, respectively (Table 13). These levels of Fe are within the sufficiency range of 40 to 500 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> given by Lockman (1984), Tisdale (1991) and Steinhilber and Salak (2009). This indicates that the growth of maize plants was not limited by shortage of Fe in the studied soil as also reported by Malewar and Ismail (1997).

Results also indicated that the concentrations of Zn in maize shoots ranged from 37.01 to 45.88 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> and 39.5 to 51.73 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> for the application of gypsites from Msagali and Pindiro deposits, respectively (Table 13). The sufficiency ranges of Zn for shoots of maize plants with age of 24 to 45 days after emergence are given as 20

to 60 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (Tisdale, 1993; Steinhilber and Salak, 2009). The highest levels of Zn in maize shoots were recorded in application of gypsites at 0.37 and 1.58g with values of 45.88 and 51.73 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. All treatments increased Zn concentration in maize shoots and all Zn concentrations fall within the sufficient range. This implies that maize plants could have taken up enough Zn released by the gypsites as one of its associate element or present in the natural soil being loosened by acidifying properties of S from gypsite (Ryant and Skládanka, 2009). The solubility of Zn increases with decrease in soil pH (Kisetu *et al.*, 2013; Yoo and James, 2003; Cui and Wang, 2005).

Results indicated that Mn concentrations in maize shoots ranged from 22.95 to 27.15 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> and 22.95 to 30.99 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> for the application of gypsites from Pindiro and Msagali deposits, respectively (Table 13). However, none of the treatments resulted into increased Mn concentration in maize shoots and all concentrations fall within the deficiency range. This implies that maize plants might not have taken up enough amounts of Mn present in the soil. The sufficiency ranges of Mn for shoots of maize plants with age of 24 to 45 days after emergence are given as 40 to 160 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (Tisdale, 1993; Steinhilber and Salak, 2009). Rahman *et al.* (2011) observed an increase in Mn uptake by maize plants with application of elemental S as a result of soil acidification although temporarily. Sanderson and Eaton (2004) reported increased leaf tissue Mn in low bush blueberry due to application of gypsum.

## **CHAPTER FIVE**

## 5.0 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

# 5.1 Conclusions

From the results of this study the following conclusions were drawn

- From the X-ray Fluorescence analysis, gypsites from different sources differ in terms of their quality as plant nutrient source and as soil amendment due to variations in their chemical composition. S contents of the gypsites followed the following trend Pindiro (15.32%) > Msagali (13.26) > Makanya (10.52%) > Itigi (6.65%).
- 2. All the studied gypsites samples contains potentially toxic elements, but the levels are not potentially toxic to plants and hence do not interfere with plant nutrient uptake.
- 3. Incubation study has revealed that the release of S from gypsite was slow, suggesting that gypsite takes long time to release nutrients. This leads to residual effect in soils that could benefit crop of next season and beyond.
- 4. Gypsite application has acidifying effect to the soils. In this study gypsite application reduced the pH by 0.4 units.
- 5. Application of gypsites did not increase N, P and K concentration in maize shoots. This could be due to low soil pH (<5) that affect some nutrients uptake by maize specifically phosphorus.

6. The tested gypsites increased Ca, Mg, S, Cu, Zn, Fe and Mn in soil suggesting that, they can be used to enhance availability of nutrients in soils with low levels of S and Ca.

## 5.2 Recommendations

- Characterization of gypsites from other deposits in the country is required in order to generate information on their quantity and suitability for use on soil amendment for increased agricultural productivity of Tanzania soils. Also quantification of the good quality gypsite deposits is essential to ensure their long term availability.
- The results from pot experiment should be extended to field level for verification under natural circumstances before concrete recommendations are made. Also the findings should be verified in other soils types.
- Long term studies to assess the residual effect of gypsite on soil properties,
   maize yield and other crops are required.
- 4. Long term effects of PTEs in gypsite when applied in different soils should be studied.
- 5. Economic analysis on the benefits of using tested gypsites is important before attracting investors to process and sell to farmers.

## REFERENCES

- Abdelgader, E.O. (2007). Effect of different nitrogen sources on growth and yield of maize (*Zea mays* L.). M.Sc. Thesis, Omdurman Islamic University, Faculty of Agriculture. 98 pp.
- Abrol, I. P. and Bhumbla, D. R. (1979). Crop responses to differential gypsum applications in a highly sodic soil and the tolerance of several crops to exchangeable sodium under field conditions. *Soil Science* 127(2): 79-85.
- Abrol, I. P., Yadav, J. S. P. and Massoud, F. I. (1988). Salt-affected soils and management *FAO Soil Bulletin* 39:1-131 pp.
- Adu-Gyamfi, J. J., Myaka, F. A., Sakala, W. D., Odgaard, R., Vesterager, J. M. and Høgh-Jensen, H. (2007). Biological nitrogen fixation and nitrogen and phosphorus budgets in farmer-managed intercrops of maize-pigeanpea in semi-arid southern and eastern Africa. *Plant and Soil 295* (1-2): 127–136.
- Agrawal, M.M and Verma, B.S. (1998). Effect of phosphorus and sulfur on yield, N,

  P and S content and uptake by sunflower crop in Udic Ustochrepts. *Journal of Agriculture Research* 19(4): 375-37.
- Ahmad, N., Saleem, M.T., Rashid, M., and Jalil, A. (1994). Sulfur status and crop response in Pakistan soils. National fertilizer development center. Pub. No. 7/94. *Planning. Development Division Islamabad.* 1:5-21

- Akbari, K.N, Karan F., Qureshi, F.M and Patel, V.N. (2003). Effect of micronutrients, sulphur and gypsum on soil fertility and yield of mustard in red loam soils of Mewar (Rajasthan). *Indian Journal of Agricultural Research* 37(2): 94-99.
- Allaway, W. H. (1968). Agronomic controls over the environmental cycling of trace elements. *Advances in Agronomy* 20 (235):74.
- Aloyce, I. A., Kelvin, M. M., Ijumba, J. N., Pawel, J. and Chau, N. D. (2014).

  Natural Radioactivity in Tanzania Cements and their Raw Materials.

  Research Journal of Environmental and Earth Sciences 6(10): 469-474.
- Alva, A.K., Graham, J.H and Tucker, D.P.H. (1993). Role of calcium in amelioration of copper phytotoxicity for citrus. *Soil Science* 155:211-218.
- Amezketa, E., Aragüés, R. and Gazol, R. (2005). Efficiency of sulfuric acid, mined gypsum, and two gypsum by-products in soil crusting prevention and sodic soil reclamation. *Agronomy Journal* 97(3):983-989.
- Amin, M. E. M. H. (2011). Effect of different nitrogen sources on growth, yield and quality of fodder maize (Zea mays L.). *Journal of the Saudi Society of Agricultural Sciences* 10(1):17-23.
- Archana, S., Jitendra K.S. (2014). Effect of Gypsum on the Reclamation and Soil Chemical Properties in Sodic Soils of Raebareli District, Uttar Pradesh. International *Journal of Scientific Research in Environmental Science* 2(12): 429-434.

- Aylmore, L. A. G., Karim, M. and Quirk, J. P. (1971). Dissolution of gypsum, monocalcium phosphate and superphosphate fertilizers in relation to particle size and porous structure. *Soil Research* 9 (1):21-32.
- Bachiega Z., Ferracciú Alleoni, L. R. and Caires, E. F. (2007). Nutrient concentration in soil water extracts and soybean nutrition in response to lime and gypsum applications to an acid Oxisol under no-till system. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems* 79:169 -179.
- Bagarama, F.M.1, Shenkalwa, E.1 and Matata, Z.P. (2012). The effect of gypsum and NPK fertiliser on groundnut performance in Western Tanzania. A paper presented on Third RUFORUM Biennial Meeting 24-28 September 2012, Entebbe, Uganda 384-394.
- Baize, D. (1993). *Soil science analyses: a guide to current use*. John Wiley and Sons Ltd. West Sussex. 192 pp.
- Balanagoudar, S. R., Deb, D. L., Sachdev, M. S. and Sachdev, P. (1999). Residual effect of phosphorus and sulphur applied to soybean and wheat on succeeding moong. *Journal of Nuclear Agriculture and Biology* 28(3):169-176.
- Barbora, A. C. (1995). Sulphur management for tea in northeastern India. *Sulphur in Agriculture* 19: 9-15.

- Barrow, N. J. (1986). Reaction of anions and cations with variable-charge soils.

  \*Advances in Agronomy 38:183-230.
- Barsoum, S. W. (1998). Effect of micronutrients application on growth and nutrients uptake by maize. *Egyptian Journal of Soil Science* 38:1-4
- Bekunda, M. A., Nkonya, E., Mugendi, D. and Msaky, J. J. (2004). Soil fertility status, management, and research in East Africa. *East African Journal of Rural Development* 20(1):94-112.
- Bindra, A.D. and Kharwara, P.C.(1994). Growth and yield of sparing sunflower in relation to nitrogen levels and plant population. *Journal of Agriculture Research* 20: 72–74.
- Blatt, C. R. and McRae, K. B. (1997). Marketable yield response of two lowbush blueberries to preplant applications of gypsum, calcitic and dolomitic limestones. *Journal of Small Fruit and Viticulture* 5(2):13-26.
- Bolan, N. S., Syers, J. K. and Sumner, M. E. (1993). Calcium-induced sulfate adsorption by soils. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 57(3):691-696.
- Brady, N.C. and Weil, R.R. (2002). *Elements of the Nature and Properties of Soils*.

  Prentice Hall, New Jersey.

- Brady, N.C. and Weil, R.R. (2008). *The Nature and Properties of Soils*. 14<sup>th</sup> Ed Prentice Hall, New Jersey.
- Brauer, D., Aiken, G., Pote, D., Livingston, S.J., Norton, L.D, Way, T.R. and J. H. Edwards, J.H.(2006). Effects of various soil amendments on soil test P values. Paper Presented at the Workshop on Research and Demonstration of Agricultural Uses of Gypsum and Other FGD Materials. St. Louis, Mo. 120 pp.
- Bray, R.H. and Kurtz, L. T. (1945). Determination of total, organic, and available forms of phosphorus in soils. *Soil Science* 59 (1): 39-46.
- Bremner, J. M. and Mulvaney, C. S. (1982). Nitrogen total. In: *Methods of soil analysis*, part 2 2<sup>nd</sup> (Edited by Page, A.L.; Miller, R.H. and Keeney, D.R).

  Agronomy Society of America, Soil Science of America, monograph no.9

  Madison, Wisconsin, USA, 595-624 pp.
- Caires, E. F., Blum, J., Barth, G., Garbuio, F. J. and Kusman, M. T. (2003). Changes in chemical soil characteristics and soybean response to lime and gypsum applications in a no-tillage system. *Revista Brasileira de Ciência do Solo* 27(2): 275-286.
- Caires, E. F., Feldhaus, I. C., Barth, G. and Garbuio, F. J. (2002). Lime and gypsum application on the wheat crop. *Scientia Agricola* 59(2):357-364.

- Caires, E. F., Fonseca, A. F., Mendes, J., Chueiri, W. A. and Madruga, E. F. (1999).

  Corn, wheat and soybean yields as a function of the changes in soil chemical characteristics due to surface application of lime and gypsum under a no-tillage system. *Revista Brasileira de Ciência do Solo* 23 (2):315-327.
- Caires, E.F., Kusman, M.T., Barth, G., Garbuio, F.J. and Padilha, J.M. (2004).

  Changes in soil chemical properties and corn response to lime and gypsum applications. Revista Brasileira de Ciência do Solo 28:125-136.
- Campbell, C. G., Garrido, F., Illera, V., and García-González, M. T. (2006).

  Transport of Cd, Cu and Pb in an acid soil amended with phosphogypsum, sugar foam and phosphoric rock. *Applied Geochemistry* 21(6):1030-1043.
- Carter, M. R. and Cutcliffe, J. A. (1990). Effects of gypsum on growth and mineral content of Brussels sprouts, and soil properties of Orthic Podzols. Fertilizer Research 24(2):77-84.
- Carter, M. R., Pearen, J. R., Cairns, R., McAndrew, D. W., and Karkanis, P. (1986).

  Improvement of soil properties and plant growth on a brown solonetzic soil using irrigation, calcium amendments and nitrogen. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science* 66(4):581-589.
- Chauhan, R. P. S. (1995). Effect of amendments on sodic-soil reclamation and yield and nutrient uptake of rice (Oryza sativa) under rice-fallow-rice system.

  Indian Journal of Agricultural Sciences Vol. 65.

- Chawla, K.L. and Abrol, I. P (1982). Effect of gypsum fineness on the reclamation of sodic soils. *Agricultural Water Management* 5:41-50.
- Chen, L. and Dick, W. A. (2011). Gypsum as an agricultural amendment: General use guidelines. Ohio State University Extension. 111 pp.
- Chen, L., Kost, D. and Dick, W. A. (2008). Flue gas desulfurization products as sulfur sources for corn. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 72(5):1464-1470.
- Chen, L., Ramsier, C., Bigham, J., Slater, B., Kost, D., Lee, Y. B. and Dick, W. A. (2009). Oxidation of FGD-CaSO<sub>3</sub> and effect on soil chemical properties when applied to the soil surface. *Fuel* 88(7):1167-1172.
- Cheng, S. H., Willmann, M. R., Chen, H. C. and Sheen, J. (2002). Calcium signaling through protein kinases. The Arabidopsis calcium-dependent protein kinase gene family. *Plant Physiology* 129(2):469-485.
- Clark, R. B., Zeto, S. K., Ritchey, K. D. and Baligar, V. C. (1997). Maize growth and mineral acquisition on acid soil amended with flue gas desulfurization by-products and magnesium. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis* 28(15-16):1441-1459.
- Clark, R. B., Zeto, S. K., Ritchey, K. D. and Baligar, V. C. (2001). Mineral acquisition by maize grown in acidic soil amended with coal combustion

- products. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis 32(11-12):1861-1884.
- Coale, F. J., Porter, P. S. and Davis, W. (1994). Soil amendments for reducing phosphorus concentration of drainage water from Histosols. Soil Science Society of America Journal 58(5):1470-1475.
- Cox, J. W., Varcoe, J., Chittleborough, D. J. and Van Leeuwen, J. (2005). Using gypsum to reduce phosphorus in runoff from subcatchments in South Australia. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 34(6):2118-2128.
- Crocker, W. (1922). History of the use of agricultural gypsum. Gypsum Industries Association, Chicago, IL.
- Cui, Y. and Wang, Q. (2005). Interaction effect of zinc and elemental sulfur on their uptake by spring wheat. *Journal of Plant Nutrition* 28(4):639-649.
- Daily News 25<sup>th</sup> July (2011) Tanzania: Nation Boasts of Best Gypsum Deposits Globally.
- Das, R.N. and Das, R. (1994). Effect of Sulphur and nitrogen fertilization on yield and N uptake by rapeseed. *Journal of the Indian Society of Soil Science* 42:113-122.

- Dash, N. R. and Ghosh, G. K. (2012). Efficacy of gypsum and magnesium sulfate as sources of sulfur to rapeseed in lateritic soils. *Journal of Plant Nutrition* 35(14): 2156-2166.
- DeSutter, T. M. and Cihacek, L. J. (2009). Potential agricultural uses of flue gas desulfurization gypsum in the northern Great Plains. *Agronomy Journal* 101(4): 817-825.
- Dontsova, K. M. and Norton, L. D. (2002). Clay dispersion, infiltration and erosion as influenced by exchangeable Ca and Mg. *Soil Science* 167(3):184-193.
- Dontsova, K., Lee, Y.B, Slater, B.K and J. M. Bigham. (2005). Ohio State University

  Extension Fact Sheet ANR. *Gypsum for Agricultural Use in Ohio Sources*and Quality of Available Products.
- Dontsova, K.M. Norton, L.D. (2002). Clay dispersion, infiltration and erosion as influenced by exchangeable Ca and Mg. *Soil Science* 167:1-10.
- Duarah, I., Deka, M., Saikia, N. and Boruah, H. D. (2011). Phosphate solubilizers enhance NPK fertilizer use efficiency in rice and legume cultivation.3

  \*\*Biotechology 1(4):227-238.\*\*
- Duke, S. H., Reisenauer, H. M. and Tabatabaí, M. A. (1986). Roles and requirements of sulfur in plant nutrition. *Sulfur in Agriculture* 123-168.

- El Amin, L.S.A. (2003). Effect of nitrogen and phosphorus of fertilization on growth and yield of fodder maize (*Zea mays* L.). M.Sc. Thesis, Omdurman Islamic University, Faculty of Agriculture (in Arabic) 95 pp.
- Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI) (2006). A review of agricultural and other land application uses of Flue Gas Desulfurization products. EPRI Technical Update Rep. 101385. EPRI, Palo Alto, CA.
- Elena, B., Ines, M., Andres, B. and Cecilia, M. (2014). Changes in a sodic soil after gypsum application under dry land conditions. *European Scientific Journal* 10(27):367-377.
- Elrashidi, M. A., West, L. T., Seybold, C. A., Benham, E. C., Schoeneberger, P. J. and Ferguson, R. (2010). Effects of gypsum addition on solubility of nutrients in soil amended with peat. *Soil Science* 175(4):162-172.
- Endale, D. M., Schomberg, H. H., Fisher, D. S., Franklin, D. H. and Jenkins, M. B. (2014). Flue gas desulfurization gypsum: Implication for runoff and nutrient losses associated with broiler litter use on pastures on Ultisols. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 43(1):281-289.
- Ernani, P. R., Miquelluti, D. J., Fontoura, S. M., Kaminski, J. and Almeida, J. A. (2006). Downward movement of soil cations in highly weathered soils

- caused by addition of gypsum. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis* 37(3-4):571-586.
- Ernani, P. R., Ribeiro, M. F. and Bayer, C. (2004). Chemical modifications caused by liming below the limed layer in a predominantly variable charge acid soil. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis* 35(5-6):889-901.
- Evanylo, G. K. (1989). Amelioration of subsoil acidity by gypsum. *The Vegetable Growers News* 44:3-4.
- Farina, M. P. W. and Channon, P. (1988). Acid-subsoil amelioration: II. Gypsum effects on growth and subsoil chemical properties. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 52(1):175-180.
- Farina, M. P. W., Channon, P. and Thibaud, G. R. (2000). A comparison of strategies for ameliorating subsoil acidity II. Long-term soil effects. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 64(2):652-658.
- Farina, M. P. W., Channon, P. and Thibaud, G. R. (2001). A comparison of strategies for ameliorating subsoil acidity II. Long-term soil effects. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 64(2):652-658.

- Farina, M. P. W., Thibaud, G. R. and Channon, P. A (2000). A comparison of strategies for ameliorating subsoil acidity. II. Long-term soil effects. Soil Science Society of America Journal 64:652–658.
- Farina, M. P. W., Thibaud, G. R. and Channon, P. A. (2000). A comparison of strategies for ameliorating subsoil acidity. I. Long-term growth effects. Soil Science Society of America Journal 64:646–651.
- Fismes, J., Vong, P. C., Guckert, A. and Frossard, E. (2000). Influence of sulfur on apparent N-use efficiency, yield and quality of oilseed rape (*Brassica napus L.*) grown on a calcareous soil. *European Journal of Agronomy* 12(2):127-141.
- Ganeshamurthy, A. N. (1996). Critical plant sulphur content and Effect of S application on grain and oil yield of rain fed soybean in vertic ustochrepts. Society of Soil Science of the India Journal 44(2):290-294.
- Gasim, S.H., (2001). Effect of nitrogen, phosphorus levels and seed rate on growth, yield and quality of forage maize (*Zea mays L.*). M.sc. Thesis, University of Khartoum, Faculty of Agriculture.
- Gee, G.W. and Bauder, J.W. (1989).Particle size analysis. In: *Methods of Soil Analysis Part 1. Second edition (Edited by Klute, A.)* Agronomy Monograph No 9 Soil Science Society of America, Madison, Wisconsin, USA, 383-412.

- Ghosh, P. K., Hati, K. M., Mandal, K. G., Misra, A. K., Chaudhary, R. S. and Bandyopadhyay, K. K. (2000). Sulphur nutrition in oilseeds and oilseed-based cropping systems. *Fertilizer News* 45:27-40.
- Godfrey R. L. N, Elibariki, C. and Kimaro, L. M. (2002). Mineral potential of Southern and Eastern African Mineral center 101-141.
- Grobler, L., Bloem, A. A. and Claassens, A. S. (1999). A critical soil sulphur level for maize (*Zea mays* L.) grown in a glasshouse. *South African Journal of Plant and Soil* 16(4):204-206.
- Gwasso, N. C.W. (2003). Effects of some amendments on soil properties and maize yield grown in sodic soil: A case study of Mto wa Mbu, Arusha. Msc. Thesis, Sokoine University of Agriculture.
- Hamza, M. A. and Anderson, W. K. (2003). Responses of soil properties and grain yields to deep ripping and gypsum application in a compacted loamy sand soil contrasted with a sandy clay loam soil in Western Australia. *Crop and Pasture Science* 54(3):273-282.
- Haq, I., Zuhar, U. D. and Karim, J. (1988). Effect of sulfur application on the yield of wheat. *Sarhad Journal of Agriculture* 4(5):123-132.
- Haq, I.U., Zuhar, D. and Hussain. M.Z. (1989). Effect of sulfur fertilization on yield of maize. *Sarhad Journal of Agriculture* 5 (3):56-63.

- Harben, P. W. and Kuzvart, M. (1996). *A global geology: industrial minerals*.

  Industrial Minerals Information Ltd, London.
- Harris, J. F. (1981). Summary of the geology of Tanganyika, Part IV: Economic geology. Geological Survey Mem. 143 pp.
- Hepler, P. K. (2005). Calcium: a central regulator of plant growth and development.

  The Plant Cell 17(8):2142-2155.
- Hitsuda, K., Yamada, M. and Klepker, D. (2005). Sulfur requirement of eight crops at early stages of growth. *Agronomy Journal* 97(1):155-159.
- Homann, P. H. (2002). Chloride and calcium in photosystem II: from effects to enigma. *Photosynthesis Research* 73:169 175.
- Hue, N. V. (2005). Responses of coffee seedlings to calcium and zinc amendments to two Hawaiian acid soils. *Journal of Plant Nutrition* 27(2):261-274.
- Keren, R., Shainberg, I., Frenkel, H. and Kalo, Y. (1983). The effect of exchangeable sodium and gypsum on surface runoff from loess soil. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 47(5):1001-1004.
- Khan, M. J., Khan M. H. and Khattak R. A (2006). Response of maize to different levels of sulfur. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis* 37:41-51.

- Khan, S. U. and Webster, G. R. (1968). Determination of gypsum in solonetzic soils by an x-ray technique. *Analyst* 93 (1107):400-402.
- Kimbi, G. G. and Mnkeni, P. N. S. (1996). Effectiveness of partially acidulated and beneficiated Minjingu rock phosphate as sources of phosphorus for maize and sorghum in three acid soils of Tanzania. *Norwegian Journal of Agricultural Sciences* 10:301-308.
- Kisetu, E. and Teveli, C. N. M. (2013). Response of green gram (Vigna radiata L.) to an application of Minjingu Mazao fertilizer grown on Olasiti soils from Minjingu-Manyara, Tanzania. Pakistan Journal of Biological Science 16(22): 1601-1604.
- Kochar, R. K., Arora, B. R. and Nayyar, V. K. (1990). Effect of sulphur and zinc application on maize crop. *Journal of the Indian Society of Soil Science* 38(2): 339-341.
- Korcak, R. F. (1988). Fluidized bed material applied at disposal levels: Effects on an apple orchard. *Journal of environmental quality* 17(3):469-473.
- Kordlaghari, M. P., and Rowell, D. L. (2006). The role of gypsum in the reactions of phosphate with soils. *Geoderma* 132(1):105-115.

- Koul, G. G. (1997). Effect of sowing methods, nitrogen levels and seed rates on yield and quality of fodder maize (*Zea mays L.*). Master of Science Thesis submitted to University of Khartoum, Faculty of Agriculture. 102 pp.
- Kumar, S., Singh, B. and Rajput, A. L. (2001). Response of Indian mustard (*Brassica juncea*) to source and level of sulphur. *Indian Journal of Agronomy* 46(3):528-532.
- Kushwaha, A.S. and Prasad, K. (1988). Effects of sulphur to wheat cultivars. *Crop Research Hisar* 15:125-126.
- Kwesiga, F. and Coe, R. (1994). Potential of short rotation *sesbania* fallows in eastern Zambia. *Forest Ecology and Management* 64:161-170.
- Landon, J.R. (1991). Booker Tropical Soil Manual. *A Handbook for soil survey and agricultural land evaluation in the tropics and subtropics*. Longman, New York. 450 pp.
- Laya, D., Van Ranst, E. and Herrero, J. (1998). A modified parametric index to estimate yield potentials for irrigated alfalfa on soils with gypsum in Quinto (Aragon, Spain). *Geoderma* 87(1):111-122.
- Ley, G., Baltissen, G., Veldolph, W., Nyaki, A. and Schrader, T. (2002). Towards

  Integrated Soil Fertility Management in Tanzania: Developing Farmers'

  Options and Responsive Policies in the Context of Prevailing Agro-

- ecological, Soci-economic and Institutional Conditions. KIT Publishers, Amsterdam, 102. pp.
- Lindsay, W.O. and Norvell, W.A. (1978). Development of a DTPA soil test for Zinc, Iron, Manganese and Copper. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 42:421-428.
- Lockman, R. B. (1984). Relationships between corn yields and nutrient concentration in seedling whole-plant samples. In: *Agronomy Abstract* pp.97.
- Mahapatra, S.S., Santra, G.H., and Tiwair, K.N. (2000). Response of wheat to sources and graded doses of sulfur as revealed by biomass yield and sulfur uptake by crops. *Environmental Ecology* 18:726-728.
- Mahmood, T. (1995). Impact of Water and Nutrient Management on Growth, Yield and Quality of Maize (*Zea Mays L.*) (Doctoral dissertation, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad).
- Makoi, J.H.J.H. and Ndakidemi, P.A. (2007). Reclamation of sodic soils in northern Tanzania, using locally available organic and inorganic resources. *African Journal of Biotechnology* 6(16):1926-1931.
- Malewar, G. U. and Ismail, S. (1997). Sulphur in balanced fertilization in western India. *In Proceedings of the TSI/FAI/IFA Symposium on Sulphur in Balanced Fertilization*, New Delhi 14:336-404.

- Malhi, S.S. and Gill, K.S. (2007). Effectiveness of sulphate-S fertilization at different growth stages for yield, seed quality and S uptake of canola. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* 82(4):665-674.
- Mandal, P. K. and Mandal, T. K. (2002). Anion water in gypsum (CaSO<sub>4</sub>·2H<sub>2</sub>O) and hemihydrate (CaSO<sub>4</sub>·1/2H<sub>2</sub>O). *Cement and Concrete Research* 32(2):313-316.
- Mathew, T., Kurian, T. M., Cherian, S. and Jayakumar, G. (2003). Residual effects of sulphur nutrition on the ration crop of sugarcane. *Sugar Technology* 5(4):315-316.
- Mboera, L.E.G, Kamugisha, M.L., Rumisha, S.F., Msangen, H.A,Barongo, V.,
  Malecela, E.K., Kisanga, L., Maghondi, F., Gwilla,Y., Kitua, A.Y. and
  Molteni, F. (2001). *Malaria epidemiology Studies in Mpwapwa District, Central Tanzania*. Report submitted to the National Malaria Control
  Programme, Ministry of Health, Dar es salaam, Tanzania.
- McLean, E. O. (1982). Soil pH and lime requirement. In: *Methods of Soil Analysis*Part 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition. Page, A.L., Miller, R.H. and Keeney, D.R. (Eds.),

  pp.199–224. American Society of Agronomy, Madison, Wnsconsin.
- Melo, M.R., Flores, N.R., Murrieta, S.V., Tovar, A.R., Zuniga, A.G., Hernandez, O.F., Mendoza, A.P., Perez, N.O. and Dorantes, A.R. (2011). Comparative plant growth promoting traits and distribution of rhizobacteria associated

- with heavy metals in contaminated soils. *International Journal for Environmental Science and Technology* 8(4):807-816.
- Mengel, K. and Kirkby, E. A. (1987). Principles of Plant Nutrition. *International Potash Institute*: Switzerland 687 pp.
- Menzies, N. W., Bell, L. C. and Edwards, D. G. (1994). Exchange and solution phase chemistry of acid, highly weathered soils. I. Characteristics of soils and the effects of lime and gypsum amendments. *Soil Research* 32(2):251-267.
- Mkapa, B.W. (2005). Towards agriculture-led growth in Tanzania: policies, priorities and strategies. The 10<sup>th</sup>Sokoine Memorial Lecture by His Excellency Benjamin William Mkapa, President of the United Republic of Tanzania, Sokoine University of Agriculture, Morogoro.12th April, 2005. The Government Printer, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. 32 pp.
- Mmbaga, T.E. and Lyamchai, C.Y. (2001). Drought management options in maize production in Northern Tanzania. 7<sup>th</sup> Eastern and Southern Africa Regional Maize Conference.11-15<sup>th</sup> February 281-287 pp.
- Moberg, J.P. (2001).Soil Analysis Manual (revised edition). The Royal Veterinary and Agricultural University, Chemistry Department, Copenhagen, Denmark. 137 pp.
- Moore, P. A., and Miller, D. M. (1994). Decreasing phosphorus solubility in poultry litter with aluminum, calcium and iron amendments. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 23(2):325-330.

- Mora, M. L., Cartes, P., Demanet, R. and Cornforth, I. S. (2002). Effects of lime and gypsum on pasture growth and composition on an acid Andisol in Chile, South America. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis* 33(13-14):2069-2081.
- Mora, M. L., Schnettler, B. and Demanet, R. (1999). Effect of liming and gypsum on soil chemistry, yield, and mineral composition of ryegrass grown in an acidic Andisol. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, 30 (9-10):1251-1266.
- Msaki, P. and Banzi, F.P (2000). Radioactivity in Products Derived from Gypsum in Tanzania. *Radiat Prot Dosimetry* 91 (4): 409-412.
- Msanya, B. M., Kaaya, A. K., Araki, S., Otsuka, H. and Nyadzi, G. I. (2004).
  Pedological characteristics, general fertility and classification of some benchmark soils of Morogoro District, Tanzania. *African Journal of Science and Technology* 4(2):101-111.
- Murrell, T. S. (2005). Average nutrient removal rates for crops in the North central region. *International Plant Nutrition Institute*. (Verified 12 March 2009).
- Mutert, E. and Fairhurst, T.H. (2002). Developments in rice production in Southeast Asia. *Better Crops International* 15:12–17.

- Nagajyoti, P. C., Lee, K. D. and Sreekanth, T. V. M. (2010). Heavy metals, occurrence and toxicity for plants: a review. *Environmental Chemistry Letters* 8(3):199-216.
- NFDC. (1992). Status report on sulfur in Pakistan. NFDC Publication No.7. National Fertilizer Development Center, Planning and Development Division, Islamabad 92 pp.
- Norton, L. D. and Rhoton, F. (2007). FGD gypsum influences on soil surface sealing, crusting, infiltration and runoff. Paper presented at the Workshop on Agricultural and Industrial Uses of FGD Gypsum. October 2007 in Atlanta, Ga. 200 pp.
- Norton, L. D., Shainberg, I. and King, K. W. (1993). Utilization of gypsiferous amendments to reduce surface sealing in some humid soils of the eastern USA. *Catena Supplement* 24:77-92.
- Nyasasi, B.T. and Kisetu, E. (2014). Determination of land productivity under maize-cowpea intercropping system in agro-ecological zone of mount Uluguru in Morogoro, Tanzania. *Global Journal of Agricultural Sciences* 2(2):147-157.
- Okalebo, J. R., Gathua, K. W. and Woomer, P. L. (2002). *Laboratory methods of soil and plant analysis*: *A working manual*. Kenya Agricultural Research Institute, Soil Science Society of East Africa and the Tropical Soil Biology Fertility Programme, Regional Office for Science and Technology for Africa, UNESCO, Nairobi, Kenya. 88 pp.

- Omara, H.A. (1989). The effect of spacing, nitrogen and phosphorus application on growth and yield of maize (*Zea mays* L.). M.Sc. Thesis, University of Khartoum, Faculty of Agriculture. 85 pp.
- Ono, T. A., Rompel, A., Mino, H. and Chiba, N. (2001). Ca<sup>2+</sup> function in photosynthetic oxygen evolution studied by alkali metal cations substitution. *Biophysical Journal* 81:1831 1840.
- Pal, D. and Phogat, V. K. (2005). Effect of deep tillage and gypsum on yield, and N,P, K and S uptake by mustard. *Journal of the Indian Society of Soil Science* 53(1): 134-136.
- Pasricha, N. S. and Fox, R. L. (1993). Plant nutrient sulfur in the tropics and subtropics. *Advances in Agronomy* 50:209-269.
- Pavan, A. M., Bingham, F.I. and Pratt, P.F. (1984). Redistribution of exchangeable calcium, magnesium, and aluminum following lime and gypsum applications to a Brazilian oxisol. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 48:33-38.
- Plieth, C. (2005). Calcium: just another regulator in the machinery of life?. *Annals of Botany* 96 (1): 1-8.

- Rahman, M. M., Soaud, A. A., Darwish, F. H. A. and Sofian-Azirun, M. (2011).

  Responses of sulfur, nitrogen and irrigation water on *Zea mays* growth and nutrients uptake. *Australian Journal of Crop Science* 5(3):350-360.
- Ram, H., Singh, S. and Chaubey, C. N. (1999). Response of rice to sulphur under reclaimed salt affected soil. *Oryza* 6(3):272-273.
- Richardson, D. S. (1982). Small scale mining of gypsum at Mkomazi, Tanzania.

  Strategies for small-scale mining and mineral industries. Bangkok: AGID

  (Association of Geoscientists for International Development), Report,
  8:112-120.
- Ritchey, K. D. and Snuffer, J. D. (2002). Limestone, gypsum, and magnesium oxide influence restoration of an abandoned Appalachian pasture. *Agronomy Journal* 94(4):830-839.
- Ritchey, K. D., Feldhake, C. M., Clark, R. B. and De Sousa, D. M. G. (1995).

  Improved water and nutrient uptake from subsurface layers of gypsum-amended soils. *Agricultural Utilization of Urban and Industrial By Products*, *ASA Special Publication* (58):157-181.
- Ryan, P. R., Reid, R. J. and Smith, F. A. (1997). Direct evaluation of the Ca<sup>2+-</sup> displacement hypothesis for Al toxicity. *Plant Physiology* 113(4):1351-1357.

- Ryant, P. and Skládanka, J. (2009). The effect of applications of various forms of sulfur on the yields and quality of grass forage. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica Section B-Soil and Plant Science* 59(3):208-216.
- Sabir, G.K., Izhar, U.H., Abdul, M., Muhammad, J.K. and Naveedullah (2007).

  Effect of various levels of gypsum application on the reclamation of salt affected soil grown under rice followed by wheat crop. *Sarhad Journal of Agriculture* 23(3):676-680.
- Sahid, M., Titiek, Y. and Gothama, A. A. A. (1990). Effect of variety and population of cotton and fertilizer rate of maize on growth and production in an intercrop. *Pemberitaan Penelitian Tanaman Industries* 16(2):53-58.
- Sahin, U., Oztas, T. and Anapali, O. (2003). Effects of consecutive applications of gypsum in equal, increasing, and decreasing quantities on soil hydraulic conductivity of a saline-sodic soil. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science* 166(5):621-624.
- Saigusa, M., Kusagaya, Y., Watanabe, H. and Shibuya, K. (1999). Ecology of apple of Peru (*Nicandra physalodes* (L.) Pers.) and velvetleaf (*Abutilon avicennae Gaerth*.) growing under the dent corn [*Zea mays*] field used for winter feeding field of cattle. *Tohoku Journal of Crop Science* 8:237-332.

- Sakal, R. and Singh, A. P. (1997). Sulphur in balanced fertilization in Eastern India.
   In proceeding of the Sulfur Institute (TSI) Fertilizer Association of India
   (FAI) International Fertilizer Industry Association (IFA) Symposium on
   Sulphur in Balanced Fertilization 15:1-6.
- Sakal, R., Singh, A.P., Sinha, R.B. and Ismail. M. (2000). Relative performance of some sulfur sources on sulfur nutrition of crops in calcareous soils.

  \*Analysis of Agricultural Research 21:206-211.
- Sanders, D., Pelloux, J., Brownlee, C. and Harper, J. F. (2002). Calcium at the crossroads of signaling. *The Plant Cell* 14(suppl 1): S401-S417.
- Sanderson, K. R. and Eaton, L. J. (2004). Gypsum-An alternative to chemical fertilizers in lowbush blueberry production. *Small Fruits Review* 3(1-2):57-71.
- Sanderson, K. R., Sanderson, J. B., and Ivany, J. A. (1996). Supplemental soil sulphur increases cabbage yield. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* 76(4):857-859.
- Scott, W. D., Mc Craw, B.D, Motes, J.E and Smith, M.W. (1993). Application of calcium to soil and cultivar affect elemental concentration of watermelon leaf and rind tissue. *Journal of the American Society of Horticultural Science* 118:201-206.

- Shainberg, I., Sumner, M. E., Miller, W. P., Farina, M. P. W., Pavan, M. A. and Fey, M. V. (1989). *Use of gypsum on soils*: A review 1-111 pp.
- Shear, C.B. (Editor) (1979). Calcium nutrition of economic crops (Special Issue).

  \*Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis 10:1–501.
- Shukry, W. M., Khattab, H. K. I. and El-Bassiouny, H. M. S. (2007). Physiological and biochemical studies on flax plant grew in calcareous soil amended with water hyacinth dry manure. *Journal of Applied Science and Research* 3(1):64-72.
- Silva, I. R. D., Ferrufino, A., Sanzonowicz, C., Smyth, T. J., Israel, D. W., and Carter Júnior, T.E. (2005). Interactions between magnesium, calcium, and aluminum on soybean root elongation. *Revista Brasileira de Ciência do* Solo 29(5):747-754.
- Sims, J. T. and Johnson, G. V. (1991). Micronutrient soil test In: Micronutrient in Agriculture second edition. (Edited by Mortvedt, J. J. Cox, F.R. Shuman, L.M. and Welch, R.M.) Soil Science Society of America, Madson, WI 53711, USA 427-476 pp.
- Singh, A. and Singh, J. K. (2014). Effect of Gypsum on the Reclamation and Soil Chemical Properties in Sodic Soils of Raebareli District, Uttar Pradesh. International Journal of Scientific Research in Environmental Sciences, 2(12): 429-434.

- Singh, D. and Chhibba, I.M. (1987). Efficiency of sulfur carriers for maize and wheat in TypicOstipsamments. *In proceedings of National Symposium for Macronutrients in Soil and Crops*, Punjab Agriculture University: Lodhiana, India. 29-34.
- Singh, S. and Singh, K. P. (1996). Effect of gypsum on yield, oil content and uptake of Ca and S by groundnut grown on an acid Alfisol of Ranchi. *Journal of the Indian Society of Soil Science* 44(4): 695-697.
- Singh, Y.P. and Aggarwal, R.L. (1998). Effects of sulphur sources and levels on yield, nutrient uptake and quality of blackgram (*Phaseolus mungo*). *Indian Journal of Agronomy* 43:448-452.
- Skwierawska, M., Zawartka, L. and Zawadzki, B. (2008). The effect of different rates and forms of applied sulphur on nutrient composition of planted crops. *Plant Soil and Environment* 54(5):179-187.
- Soaud, A. A., Al Darwish, F. H., Saleh, M. E., El-Tarabily, K. A., Sofian-Azirun, M. and Rahman, M. M. (2011). Effects of elemental sulfur, phosphorus, micronutrients and Paracoccus versutus on nutrient availability of calcareous soils. *Australian Journal of Crop Science* 5(5):554-561.
- Somnath C. and Gosh, G.K. (2009). Vertical distribution of forms of Sulphur in some profiles of Birbhum district of West Bengal. *Journal of Interacademicia* 13(1):28-35.

- Sreemannarayana, B and Raju, A.S. (1995). Influence of native and applied sulfur on different cropping sequences on status of sulfur fraction in Vertisol and Alfisols. *Annals of Agriculture Research* 3:344-350.
- Sreemannarayana, B., Raju, A.S., and Mrinalini, G. (1998). Effects of N and S application on yield and quality of sunflower. *Madras Journal of Agriculture* 85:204-206.
- Stout, W. L., Sharpley, A. N. and Landa, J. (2000). Effectiveness of coal combustion by-products in controlling phosphorus export from soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 29(4):1239-1244.
- Subhani, A., Shabbir, G., Fazil, M., Mahmood, A. and Khalid, R. (2003). Role of sulphur in enhancing the oil contents and yield of rapeseed under medium rainfed conditions. *Pakistan Journal of Soil Science* 22:50-53.
- Sumner, M. E. (2007). Soil chemical responses to FGD gypsum and their impact on crop yields. Paper presented at the Workshop on Agricultural and Industrial Uses of FGD Gypsum.65 pp.
- Sumner, M. E. and Larrimore, L. (2006). Use of gypsum for crop production on southeastern soils. Paper presented at the Workshop on Research and Demonstration of Agricultural Uses of Gypsum and Other FGD Materials.

- Sumner, M. E., Shahandeh, H., Bouton, J. and Hammel, J. (1986). Amelioration of an acid soil profile through deep liming and surface application of gypsum. Soil Science Society of America Journal 50(5):1254-1258.
- Szilas, C., Peter Møberg, J., Borggaard, O. K. and Semoka, J. M. (2005). Mineralogy of characteristic well-drained soils of sub-humid to humid Tanzania. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica Section B-Soil and Plant Science* 55(4):241-251.
- Takahashi, T., Ikeda, Y., Nakamura, H. and Nanzyo, M. (2006). Efficiency of gypsum application to acid Andosols estimated using aluminum release rates and plant root growth. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition* 52(5): 584-592.
- Takasu, E., Yamada, F., Shimada, N., Kumagai, N., Hirabayashi, T. and Saigusa, M. (2006). Effect of phosphogypsum application on the chemical properties of Andosols, and the growth and Ca uptake of melon seedlings. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition* 52(6):760-768.
- Tandon, H.L.S., (1984). Sulphur research and agricultural production in India. Fertilizer Development and Consultation organization, *New Delhi* pp.6-10.
- Tandon, H.L.S., (1991). Sulphur research and agricultural production in India. *The Sulphur Institute*, USA. 140 pp.

- Teotia, U. S., Mehta, V. S., Ghosh, D. and Srivastava, P. C. (2000). Phosphorus-sulphur interaction in moongbean (Vigna radiata L. Wilczek): I. Yield, phosphorus and sulphur contents. *Legume Research* 23(2):106-109.
- Tisdale, S. L. Nelson, W., Beaton, J. D. and Havlin, J. L. (1993). *Soil Fertility and Fertilizers* 5th edition. Prentice Hall, New Jersey. 634pp.
- Tisdale, S. L., Nelson, W. Beaton, J. D. and Havlin, J. L. (2003). *Soil Fertility and Fertilizers* 6<sup>th</sup> edition. Prentice Hall, New Jersey. 634 pp.
- Toatia, U.S., Mehta, V.S., and Ghosh, V., and Srivastava, P.C. (2000). Phosphorus-sulphur interaction in moongbean (*Vigna radiate* L. Wilczeck).I. Yield, phosphorus and sulphur contents. *Legume Research* 23:106-109.
- Toma, M., Sumner, M. E., Weeks, G. and Saigusa, M. (1999). Long-term effects of gypsum on crop yield and subsoil chemical properties. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 63(4):891-895.
- Tuna, A. L., Kaya, C., Ashraf, M., Altunlu, H., Yokas, I. and Yagmur, B. (2007).
  The effects of calcium sulphate on growth, membrane stability and nutrient uptake of tomato plants grown under salt stress. *Environmental and Experimental Botany* 59 (2):173-178.

- United States Development of Agriculture (1975). *Soil Taxonomy*. A basic system of soil classification for making and interpreting soil surveys. Agric. Handbook no.436.Washngton, D.C.754 pp.
- Vandamme, E. (2008). Nutrient deficiencies in soils of Walungu, South-Kivu, Democratic Republic of Congo. Katholieke Universiteit Leuven, Belgium.
- Velarda, M., Felker, P.and Gardiner, D. (2005). Influence of elemental sulfur, micronutrients, phosphorus, calcium, magnesium and potassium on growth of *Prosopis alba* on high pH soils in Argentina. *Journal of Arid Environments* 62(4):525-539.
- Verma, K. S. and Abrol, I. P. (1980). Effects of gypsum and pyrites on soil properties in a highly sodic soil. *Indian Journal of Agricultural Sciences* 50(11):844-851.
- Vijay, M.V, Bruce R.J, and Alba, T. (1997). Copper solubility in Myersville B horizon soil in the presence of DTPA. *Soil Science Society of American Journal* 61:44-52.
- White, P. and Broadley, M. R. (2003). Calcium in plants. *Annals of Botany* 92:487-511.

- Wim, B., Stern, R., Coe, R., Matere, C. (2007). GenStat Discovery 4th Edition for everyday use. ICRAF Nairobi, Kenya, 117 pp.
- Yocum, C. F. (2008). The calcium and chloride requirements of the O<sub>2</sub> evolving complex. *Coordination Chemistry Reviews* 252(3):296-305.
- Yoo, M. S. and James, B. R. (2003). Zinc exchangeability as a function of pH in citric acid-amended soils. *Soil science* 168(5):356-367.
- Zambrosi, F. C. B., Alleoni, L. R. F. and Caires, E. F. (2007). Nutrient concentration in soil water extracts and soybean nutrition in response to lime and gypsum applications to an acid Oxisol under no-till system. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems* 79(2):169-179.
- Zhang, X. N. (1996). Effect of perchlorate, nitrate, chloride and pH on sulfate adsorption by variable-charge soils. *Geoderma* 73(3):217-229.
- Zheljazkov, V. D., Astatkie, T., Caldwell, C. D., MacLeod, J. and Grimmett, M. (2006). Compost, manure, and gypsum application to timothy/red clover forage. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 35(6):2410-2418.